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CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR'S MESSAGE

On behalf of the Board of Directors, it gives
me great pleasure to present the 2008 annual
report and consolidated financial statements
of bkme – the Bank of Kuwait and the Middle
East. In a difficult and challenging year, the
bank has once again turned a remarkable
profit through prudence, foresight and
exceptional financial management.
Despite the worldwide economic downturn,
bkme has remained a solid and secure
institution, achieving further growth and
profits unrivalled by other banks in the
country. Our success is testament to the strong
foundations on which a lasting yet flexible
infrastructure has been built. Our unified
culture has further strengthened the bank’s
network by allowing easier and faster access,
across and between all departments, resulting
in far greater understanding, cooperation
and communication. Without doubt, this has
contributed greatly to our current, healthy
position.
2009 will bring the Bank’s most challenging
and fundamental change with our conversion
to modern Islamic banking. After lengthy
analysis and thorough consideration, the
Board and shareholders have agreed this is
the logical progression for the bank, being

both a commercial driver and in the best
interests of our clients. By offering innovative
and advanced Sharia compliant products, we
grant peace of mind to both our customers
and investors, whilst continuing to grow
profits and returns. With our proven record,
over the past number of years, to willingly
adapt and seamlessly achieve change through
excellent preparation and planning, we are
extremely confident this transition will be as
equally streamlined as those previous. Our
customers are of utmost importance hence
we are continuing in our mission to “make
life simple”, through service, quality, training
and development.
The continued domestic economic growth and
product expansion by the Bank has resulted
in a remarkable net profit of KD 51.4 million,
an increase of over 6.6% over 2007. This
was derived from a total operating income
of KD 105.9 million showing an increase of
KD 13.3 million over the previous year. Total
assets at 31st December 2008 was KD 2.24
billion whilst shareholders’ equity was KD
243 million. Earnings per share increased to
64.3 fils, a healthy rise of 6.6%. These results
have led to a satisfactory key financial ratios
for the Bank – the Return on Average Assets
at 2.2% and Return on Average Shareholders’
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Equity at 20.2%. In light of these rewarding
results, the Board of Directors recommended
the distribution of a cash dividend of 30%
(30 fils per share) and bonus issue of 10%
(1 bonus share for every 10 shares held) for
the year ended 31st December 2008. bkme’s
capital adequacy ratio calculated under the
Basel II accord stands at a comfortable 14.8%
providing further opportunities to the Bank
to expand its asset base.
In an extremely challenging environment
when both the Financial Markets and the
Real Economy have been impacted by the
profound impact of global recession and
the diminution of asset values, our core
businesses, underpinned by a robust risk
management regime continue to flourish.
In all areas of our activities bkme, through
its integration into the AUB group is able to
provide product, service and geographical
reach to its customers from the platform of
its long established and diversified domestic
franchise.
Private Banking continues to provide
its clients with tailored and appropriate
investment products, it has positioned itself
as a market leader in Kuwait, differentiating
itself through the caliber of its relationship

managers and customer service. They are well
positioned and ready to replicate this model
as a provider of innovative Islamic investment
products.
Corporate Banking has consolidated its position
in the local market expanding its portfolio of
clients but not at the expense of asset quality.
A pre-emptive and cautious strategy towards
more volatile risks differentiates us from our
competitors and positions us well for 2009.
The ability to provide our clients with access
to regional markets proved to be of great
value this year and will continue to be a focus
for us.
Treasury remains a vital component in product
delivery to our Corporate, Retail and Private
Banking, clients. Their role in 2008 was even
more pivotal as the management and sourcing
of the Bank’s liquidity was crucial given the
turmoil in the world’s financial markets. Our
liquidity position remained strong throughout
and we will continue to strive to diversify and
expand our sources of liabilities.
Retail Banking played a significant role in the
diversification of our funding base. Looking
forward the business will reposition itself,
moving away from commoditized products and
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services to focus on tailored and structured
solutions for our customers. Innovation will
be key, both in terms of product and delivery
and this will be achieved with the support of
a skilled and motivated staff.
Customer service remains a priority. Our
Customer Contact Center ensured that bkme
was first among local banks to complete
the issuance and delivery of EMV credit
cards. They will also play a vital role in the
Islamic conversion process, making sure
that our customers are informed ensuring a
seamless transition for them. Likewise the
Card Center has enhanced customer service
with improved automated scanning and
archiving capabilities and the remarkable
ability to issue a customer with a new EMV
chips protected card in 5 minutes. This has
been achieved within a changing and more
stringent regulatory environment.
All areas of the Bank are preparing for the
Bank’s conversion none more so than the
Marketing Co-ordination Unit (MCU), after a
hectic year in 2008 which saw the innovative
launch of many of bkme’s products. MCU is
now working on the various campaigns and
branding activities to ensure both customer
and media awareness.

(CONT'D)

Electronic Banking has significantly increased
trading accounts with enhanced technology
providing our customers with access to
additional markets, namely the Doha and
Muscat Securities Markets. The new website
has added to the Bank’s virtual channels
promoting interactivity within the Group.
Our Information Technology Division has
already made significant investments in
systems and has started the implementation
process to facilitate the move from
conventional to Islamic banking. These
systems will support our objective to provide
a broader client base with innovative products
and services, bkme will have the systems
that will position us at the forefront of a new
generation of Islamic banking technology
and we will be even more responsive to
market dynamics.
Recruiting and retaining staff of a caliber
appropriate to our needs is a constant.
We continue to be much encouraged by
the competence of Kuwaiti graduates
with whom we maintain our 52% Kuwaiti
national workforce. The Human Resources
department continues to seek, train and
develop according to our corporate strategy.
HR continues to recognize the importance of
staff motivation and support the “Making a
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Difference” initiative, which celebrates the
achievements of staff who have, in their
professional capacity, made a difference to the
bank and its customers, through exceptional
performance, the sharing of innovative ideas
and overall outstanding commitment to their
jobs. Various accredited training programs
including the Retail and Credit Academies
have been run both in-house and abroad as
well as the structure and development of an
in-house program concentrating on Islamic
Banking. This comprehensive program has
created awareness, explained concepts
and forged the skills required for Sharia
compliance.

and scope of products and services.
It is with a great deal of positive anticipation,
I look forward to the year ahead. In this
transformational year from a conventional to
an Islamic bank, I am confident that the skills
and expertise of bkme’s talented staff will,
once again, succeed in a seamless transition.
It is without question that team work has
strengthened and enhanced the bank’s
performance throughout the year. I thank
them for their dedication and commitment. In
addition, their unwavering loyalty in whatever
situation arises and their willingness to adapt
to change cannot be applauded enough.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I wish His
Highness the Emir Sheikh Sabah Al Ahmad
Al-Jaber Al-Sabah & His Highness Crown
Prince Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber AlSabah every success in 2009 with continued
health and prosperity.
Without the continued support of our
shareholders, the bank could not progress as
successfully as it has over the past number of
years. My sincere thanks to them and to our
most valued customers who place their trust
in our management of their financial affairs.
We will continue to provide the very best in
banking services, broadening both our reach

HAMAD ABDUL MOHSEN AL-MARZOUQ
Chairman and Managing Director
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors is responsible for the
overall governance of the Bank. This includes
strategy, directing Senior Management,
ensuring a robust control function that
conforms to international best practices
and the monitoring of management’s
performance within agreed parameters. The
Board has created three sub-committees to
assist in carrying out its duties.
Role Statement
The Executive Committee:
Deputizes for the Board on urgent matters
normally reserved for the full Board and
discharges responsibilities delegated by
the Board, including credit and market risk
issues.

The Audit Committee:
Assists the Board in respect of the Bank’s
accounting policies, internal control,
compliance procedures, financial reporting
and liaison with regulators, Kuwait Stock
Exchange and external auditors.
The Compensation Committee:
Has been established to assist the
Board in authorizing and managing the
Bank’s compensation arrangements and
recommending Directors remuneration for
approval by Shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting.

Board
of Directors

Audit
Committee

Executive
Committee

Compensation
Committee
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Management
The Bank’s management monitors the
performance of the Bank on an ongoing
basis and advises the Board. The monitoring
of the performance is carried out through a
regular assessment of performance trends
against Budget and prior periods and peer
banks, in each market segment.
The Management Committee is a collective
management forum providing a formal
framework for effective consultation and
transparent decision making by the senior
management on cross-organizational issues
such as those relating to strategy, budget,
performance, operational, personnel and
compliance. This committee is chaired by
the Chairman & Managing Director and
comprises of all Deputy CEOs.
The Asset and Liability Committee
(ALCO) sets, reviews and manages the
liquidity, market risk and funding strategy
of the Bank. ALCO comprises of CMD, DCEOs,
Treasurer, Head of Risk, Heads of Businesses
and Head of Finance.

The Risk Management Committee (RMC)
reviews and manages the Bank’s overall
risk management process and procedures
encompassing market, operational, legal
and compliance risks. RMC also reviews
the level of capital adequacy in relation to
the Bank’s risk profile. RMC is mandated
to provide clear guidance in respect of
operational risk self assessment process
and review Bank’s Disaster Recovery and
Business Continuity Plans.
The Credit Committee and Senior Credit
Committee reviews and approve credit
proposals, investment proposals and also
recommend changes to the Credit policy
which includes setting sectoral limits and
country limits.
The Credit evaluation and Classification
Committee reviews and evaluates the
credit facility to each client separately
to ensure irregular credit facilities are
classified in accordance with Bank’s
Risk grade criteria and provisions are
maintained in compliance with Central
Bank of Kuwait’s guidelines.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Additional Governance
In addition to the Board and Management
Committee, the Board of Directors has
approved various policies to ensure clarity
and consistency in the operations of the
Bank. These policies are communicated
to staff and cover subjects including
anti-money laundering, confidentiality,
communications, legal and human
resources issues.
As a supporting governance measure, the
Board also relies on the ongoing reviews
performed by internal and external auditors
on internal control functions conducted
in order to identify any weakness. These

(CONT’D)

reviews enable management to react
with preemptive plans for mitigation. It
is important to highlight that the Bank
maintains sufficient insurance coverage
and has contingency plans for systems
failure including back up systems with offsite data storage.
The Board of Directors and Management
are confident that these high standards
of corporate governance will continue
to enhance the Bank’s performance and
therefore shareholder value in the long
term, it also provides confidence to our
shareholders, customers, regulators, rating
agencies and staff.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

For more than 67 years, bkme has
contributed to Kuwait’s social and economic
development, financing infrastructural,
industrial and commercial projects. Since
that time we have strived to become a pillar
of the financial community, continuously
responding to the needs of our individual
and corporate customers.
But while we take pride in our unique
heritage, we are not complacent. bkme
remains committed to delivering a higher
quality of service to our customers and a
superior return to our shareholders.
bkme’s future vision is based on one central
idea “Making life simple”. We view this as
a unique benchmark, one that drives our
ambition.
With a well balanced and refreshingly simple
approach, bkme has set out to transform
the way that banking is perceived, from a
necessary task to a life-long relationship
based
primarily
on
understanding
consumers’
needs,
supporting
the
achievement of their goals, and providing
swift, efficient and appropriate solutions to
their financial needs.
Private Banking & Wealth Management
Since its inception in 2005, private banking
and wealth management has witnessed
continuous
growth
and
increased
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development in terms of its products and
services. Providing new, customized, refined
services and delivering superior customer
service, has been the main priority and
objective in 2008.
This year has seen a significant increase
in our customer base, achieving increased
market penetration within the country.
Substantial expansion in our customer base
across the region such as Bahrain, Egypt and
London, reiterates and is testament to our
strong commitment to our high net worth
clients, gaining their confidence and loyalty
across the entire AUB group. Furthermore,
we have achieved substantial growth in
our assets and deposits, resulting in greater
profits in comparison to last year.
To enhance our domestic coverage our
private banking and wealth management is
now represented in our Shamiya and Jabriya
branches, as well as in Head Office. A team
of professional relationship managers are
dedicated to serve our elite clientele across
the network. Our future plans are to be
represented across more locations, in order
to attract potential high net worth clients.
Additionally, our ability to serve our clients
throughout the entire AUB group offers an
added value for our clients.
Through our Exclusive private banking and
wealth management services, we continue
to provide a diversified range of wealth
management solutions, varying from

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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investment advisory and products, to estate
planning.
In order to maximize customer service,
we continue to periodically conduct
customer satisfaction surveys. The results
encouragingly show a high satisfaction
rating across various banking parameters
by our private banking and wealth
management customers.
Our staff have attended various training
programs throughout the year including the
‘Chartered Portfolio Management’ (CHPM)
certification, which focuses on providing
wealth management solutions and services
to high net worth clients. Additionally,
intensive training on Islamic financial
techniques will help provide a smooth
transition from conventional to modern,
Islamic banking.
We will continue to offer the highest standards
of customer service, updating our customers
with current market trends and providing
tailor made investment solutions customized
to the financial objectives of our clients.
Corporate Banking
Although 2008 was a year of unprecedented
challenges Corporate Banking Division has
been able to consolidate its success of
recent years and to grow the portfolio of
both liabilities and assets in a sustainable
and profitable manner.

Adhering to the most fundamental
elements of Banking best practice the focus
on growing and diversifying our sources of
Corporate Deposits has been extremely
successful both in terms of supply and
cost despite intense competition and the
liquidity environment arising from the
regional and global economic situation.
Asset growth was selective and
underpinned by a Risk Management
regime that demands attention to credit
analysis, transaction structuring and a
preemptive and defensive strategy towards
more volatile risks. This will ensure that
the portfolio maintains its asset quality
as we and our clients continue to face the
challenges to the Real Economy that lay
ahead.
In 2008 we were truly able to explore
the opportunities arising from our unique
competitive advantages as part of the AUB
Group, providing our clients with access
to the Region’s most important markets
replicating “the-one-stop-shop” approach
in each of the locations, this has and
will continue to differentiate us from the
competition.
In support of our relationship management
focus, we continue to improve our
operational support services and our
Research and Business Intelligence
capabilities, essential components to
achieve the levels of customer service to
which we aspire.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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We firmly believe that the reputation of
bkme’s Corporate Banking Division goes
from strength to strength, evidenced by
the quality and diversity of our Corporate
Customer base and testament to the
commitment, market knowledge and skills
of our Relationship Officers and Support
Staff.
There is no doubt 2009 will be a year of
continued uncertainty, however Corporate
Banking will continue to build on its
success of recent years, a strong platform
from which to launch our Islamic Banking
business.
Treasury
Despite the extreme turbulence in the
world’s financial market witnessed in
the last year, bkme’s Treasury Division
increased volumes and profitability in our
customer driven foreign exchange activity
and, most importantly, ensured prudent
levels of liquidity at all times. Funding
from International Banks is minimal, as we
continue to expand our pool of liquidity
sourced from our individual, corporate and
institutional clients.
Early in the year, the division launched the
KD Money Market Fund - a conservatively
managed secure fund with weekly liquidity
and a target return higher than the
prevailing rate for 3 month KD deposits.

Treasury remains a vital component of the
“one-stop-shop” offering we provide to our
customers. Co-ordination and co-operation
with other divisions across the board has
improved, ensuring clients receive informed
advice and appropriate Treasury solutions.
We are able to provide geographical reach
and access to international financial markets
and an extensive suite of treasury products
and services.
As specific training needs were successfully
met in 2008, we now consider it an
ongoing objective to ensure that all of our
staff are fully prepared as we move closer
to becoming Sharia compliant. Treasury
will lead investment product development
and ensure that both existing and new
clients enjoy a comprehensive selection
of investment and foreign exchange
products that both conform and set industry
standards.
Retail Banking
In 2008 Retail Banking continued to
differentiate itself providing innovative
products and achieving new benchmarks
for customer service.
The business was a major contributor to our
growth in customer deposits, achieving both
diversification and supply in an extremely
competitive marketplace. The creative re
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launch of a number of products made a
significant impact on the market with the
Special Fixed Deposit Product in particular
proving especially successful.
Our mission to “make life simple” is
accompanied by the desire to make a visit
to a bkme branch as pleasant as possible
for our customers. New branches and the
renovation and refurbishment of existing
locations provide an aesthetically pleasing
and functional environment for visitors.
We are looking forward to provide our
clients with the same levels of customer
service following the Bank’s conversion to
Sharia and our customers have embraced
this evolution.
The opportunity to innovate with tailored
products and services is given further
impetus in an Islamic Banking environment
and we will continue to differentiate
ourselves.
Electronic Banking Distribution
Electronic Banking Distributions offers
full range of streamlined and advanced
banking services and enriches the banks’
virtual channels in cooperation with Ahli
United Bank Group. The new website was
redesigned to provide the visitors with
sophisticated interactive financial tools
and a dedicated registered customer login

area to promote the products and services
of individual Group banks and continue
building brand identities, awareness and
interest in the organization and the services
which are aimed at selective customers
and merchants segments.
The adoption of state-of-the-art services
and groundbreaking technology has
positioned bkme as a trendsetter in the
domestic market, namely Online Banking,
Point of Sales, Payment Gateways and all
sort of advanced electronic fund transfers
tools. At present, bkme has accomplished
a remarkable increase in the number of
traders and trading accounts by adding
two further GCC markets, Doha and Muscat
Securities Markets. It has also enhanced
customer service by introducing the Early
and Daily settlement services to its various
segments of traders and investors. The
department has launched the full-fledged
Custody Channel to service the banks’
foreign corporate investors.
With additional investment in product and
service innovation the bank has continued
to expand its existing Auto Teller Machines
Network while adding additional essential
features such as a secured updated Cash
Deposit module in order to deliver quality
services and compliment this role with the
APTRA Promote Multi Marketing Campaign
Management Tool.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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Customer Contact Center
In 2008, the Customer Contact Center
has offered convenience through the
implementation of routing branch calls,
which had a major impact in the reduction
of operational costs and enhancement of
Sales & Service performance. Moreover,
the Back Office prepared and equipped, to
handle and solve any customer issues or
inquiries.
In addition, the establishment of a
dedicated and specialized outbound team
has optimized service levels and generated
many sales opportunities through crossselling bkme products and conducting
monthly customer satisfaction surveys.
Other initiatives throughout the year
included the ongoing monitoring and
assessment of staff to ensure customers
receive the best service possible from our
committed, competent team.
Marketing Unit & Card Center
In addition to the re-launch of a number of
bkme’s products and services, we continue
to attract new customers through incentives,
offers and unique products including the
successful MyHassad draw program and the
Pearls Rewards initiative.
In preparation for the Bank’s conversion
numerous advertising campaigns, press

releases and personalized contact programs
have been launched to ensure that
customers, our correspondents and the
media are well informed.
In a year when the Credit Card market
was impacted by regulatory changes, we
have issued new cards and successfully
introduced a number of special offers.
ٍServices were enhanced the instant issuance
system has been improved to issue ATM
cards with EMV at any of BKME branches.
Risk Management
The year 2008 witnessed dramatic changes
in Global and Regional credit and financial
markets. The Risk Management Division
has been proactive with regard to the
application of prudent controls, reviews
and monitoring techniques on the Bank’s
entire portfolio.
These have included, primarily, proactive
risk management by monitoring the
performance of various segments of
corporate and retail portfolio and effecting
necessary changes in lending criteria
accordingly.
MIS report preparation, review and referral
to senior management for portfolio risk
assessment and proper mitigation of any
undue risks has further strengthened our
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position. This, along with the robust risk rating
review and control process to periodically
assess the credit standing of our obligors
has kept updated information continuously
at hand. To further facilitate this, one of the
objectives of division was to fully automate
all the reporting requirements, whereby
ongoing development and enhancement of
reporting preparation methods are applied.
This year we have introduced more
robust market risk management of
trading, investment and banking books
through development of in-house models
and reporting. The Risk Management
independently verifies the investment
valuation and monitors treasury trading
activities, Foreign Exchange limits and
Interest Gap analysis as per the Bank’s
policies and procedures. In co-ordination
with the Finance Division, the team has
continued to monitor Market Risk weighted
assets and the capital charge for capital
adequacy, as per CBK guidelines. In addition,
we have maintained the database of all
banking assets, liabilities and off balance
sheet items exposed to adverse market
movements, and calculated the potential
impact on the Bank’s Net Interest Income
and Market Value of such assets, liabilities
and off balance sheet items.
Operational Risk has witnessed a higher
level of preparation for business continuity
planning through upgrading of the
connection between the Disaster Recovery

and Business Continuity Sites to fiber optic
cable (for real time data feed). This was
complemented by two mini tests in March
and May, the latter after the upgrading
of the link to fiber optic cable, and the
successful full test in June. Additionally the
branches had successful off-host tests.
The year 2008 witnessed a thorough review
of the Operational Risk Self Assessment
(ORSA) process by reviewing previously
stated operational risks and identifying
new, as well as outlining control processes.
While they are being fully addressed,
residual or open operational risks are being
tracked on monthly basis.
Meanwhile, fraud risk is backed by a bankwide coordination in detecting potential
sources of fraud and taking immediate and
decisive remedial action.
Information Technology
bkme’s Information Technology division’s
emphasis on customer data integrity and
security has always been optimum and
in line with international best practices.
Credit and debit cards have migrated to the
secure Chip Card technology - ‘Embedded
Microchip Verification’ (EMV) standard and
we are also PCI (Payment Card Industry)
certified.
This is a worldwide data
security standard, mandated by credit card
companies, for the protection of cardholder
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information. While bkme has implemented
Basel II and Anti Money laundering many
years back, yet in line with the AUB Group
strategy, we have implemented a new
Basel II and a new Anti Money Laundering
system for appropriate banking controls
across the Group.
As bkme now evolves into an Islamic bank
in 2009, significant investments will soon
be made in a new system to effectively
facilitate the move from conventional to
Islamic banking. The overall impact of
this change in system will be to provide
solutions to swiftly deliver tailored products
and services to a broader customer base.
This will ensure bkme’s position at the
forefront of a new generation of Islamic
banking technology, making it even more
responsive to market dynamics.
Human Resources
The Human Resources Division was able
to deliver yet another successful record in
2008. This was mainly focused on supporting
the bank’s corporate strategy to attract,
retain and develop staff of exceptional
calibres as well as competent, fresh Kuwaiti
graduates. Over the year, unceasing efforts
resulted in the appointment of 145 new
staff, maintaining a 52 percent Kuwaiti
workforce.
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HR continues to recognize the importance
of staff motivation, and jointly with Quality
Assurance Department, supports the
“Making a Difference” initiative. This is a
ceremony that celebrates the achievements
of staff who have, in their professional
capacity, made a difference to the bank
and its customers, through exceptional
performance, the sharing of innovative
ideas and overall outstanding commitment
to their jobs.
As a continuous practice, HR has
implemented an in-house training and
development plan that incorporates
several specialized programs, tailored to
develop staff and enable them meet the
global challenges of the industry, as well
as their unique business needs. A total
of 76 in-house training programs were
conducted in addition to our participation
in 211 programs, locally, Institute of
Banking Studies (IBS), and abroad including
workshops and conferences.
Fully supporting the bank’s strategy,
the HR department has developed a
comprehensive and integrated Islamic
Banking in-house training plan officially
launched in August 2008. This plan was
designed to spread awareness and equip
all staff, across the bank, with the required
concepts, knowledge and skills needed to
ensure a smooth & successful conversion to
Islamic Banking.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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Quality Assurance

Community

Quality Assurance has had a very successful
year with customer service quality improving
to very high levels. This has been achieved
through the continued enhancement of
bkme customer care, quality service and
process improvement. bkme can proudly
announce its service quality is rated top
against two of the leading banks in Kuwait.
Several processes were further improved
during 2008 including credit card delivery,
loan processing time, transaction time,
opening accounts and overall speed and
accuracy of service provided by branch
staff. In addition, our ATM instant issuance
system makes bkme the first and only bank
in Kuwait providing such a service. Further,
a customer pocket guide was introduced
to improve customer service indicating all
bkme branch locations, addresses, opening
hours, ATM deposit machines and safe
deposit locker locations.

As an integral part of the community
that it serves, the bank gives its social
responsibilities programs an utmost priority.
In 2008, bkme continued to encourage
summer training for freshly graduated
Kuwaitis.

We will continue to provide trending
reports that highlight strengths, as well
as areas that need improvement; helping
to turn customers feedback into increased
customer acquisition, retention rates and
lasting loyalty. We believe that maintenance
of high customer satisfaction levels is truly
one of our bank’s most valuable assets and
we look forward to continued success and
improvement in 2009.

The bank also continued to support the
local community by financing a number
of charities and worthwhile social and
economical initiatives, with a special
focus on those benefiting the physically
handicapped. The bank’s staff also
participated in a variety of cultural and
sporting activities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE BANK OF KUWAIT AND THE MIDDLE EAST K.S.C.

P.O. Box 74 Safat
13001 Safat, Kuwait
Baitak Tower, 18-21st Floor
Safat Square, Ahmed Al Jaber Street
Tel: 22452880
Fax: 22456419
e-mail: kuwait@kw.ey.com

Bader & Co. PriceWaterhouseCoopers
P.O. Box 20174, Safat 13062
Dar Al-Awadi Complex, 7th Floor
Ahmed Al-Jaber Street, Sharq - Kuwait
Tel: 22408844
Fax: 22408855
e-mail: pwc.kwt@kw.pwc.com

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Bank of
Kuwait and the Middle East K.S.C. (the Bank) and its subsidiary (together ‘the Group’)
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2008, and the
consolidated income statement, statements of changes in equity and cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Bank’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait. This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Group as of 31 December 2008 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Matters
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of accounts have been kept by the Bank and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Bank’s
Board of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance
therewith. We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that
we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements
incorporate all information that is required by the Capital Adequacy Regulations issued
by Central Bank of Kuwait as stipulated in CBK Circular number 2/BS/184/2005 dated 21
December 2005, as amended, Commercial Companies Law of 1960, as amended, and by
the Bank’s Articles of Association, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, no violation of Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by
Central Bank of Kuwait as stipulated in CBK Circular number 2/BS/184/2005 dated 21
December 2005, as amended, Commercial Companies Law of 1960, as amended, nor of
the Articles of Association have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2008 that
might have had a material effect on the business of the Bank or on its financial position.
We further report that, during the course of our examination, we have not become aware
of any material violations of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning
currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organisation of banking business, and its
related regulations, during the year ended 31 December 2008.

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI
Licence No. 68 A
of Ernst & Young
21 January 2009
Kuwait

BADER A. AL-WAZZAN
Licence No. 62 A
of PricewaterhouseCoopers

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year Ended 31 December 2008

notes
Interest income

3

Interest expense
Net interest income
Net fees and commission income

4

Foreign exchange gains
Net (losses)/gains on investments at fair value through profit or loss
Net gain on sale of investments available for sale
Share of results from associate

13

Dividend income
Other income

31 December 2008

KD 000

31 December 2007

KD 000

139,945

130,163

(97,515)

(87,624)

42,430

42,539

23,019

24,763

5,015

4,749

(5,164)

4,307

36,112

11,094

(775)

-

4,681

4,611

626

599

105,944

92,662

(18,531)

(5,208)

Operating income after provisions

87,413

87,454

Staff costs

18,222

16,948

Total operating income
Provision for impairment, net

5

Depreciation

2,153

2,010

Other operating expenses

11,267

11,506

Total operating expenses

31,642

30,464

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

55,771

56,990

(495)

(383)

(1,253)

(1,023)

(495)

(25)

Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

National labour support tax (NLST)
Zakat
Directors’ fees
profit FOR THE YEAR

-

(84)

53,528

55,475

51,365

48,179

Attributable to:
Bank’s equity shareholders
Minority interest

Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils)

The attached notes 1 to 26 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,163

7,296

53,528

55,475

64.3

60.3

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
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31 December 2008

notes

31 December 2008

KD 000

31 December 2007

KD 000

Assets
8

183,219

173,538

Treasury bonds

9

257,072

223,059

Central Bank of Kuwait bonds

9

35,943

13,739

Cash and balances with banks

13,798

20,000

10

6,242

30,642

43,424

297,128

11

1,472,932

1,251,476

Investments available for sale

12

122,562

142,116

Investment in associate

13

8,048

8,774

Certificates of deposit
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and deposits with financial institutions
Loans and advances

Premises and equipment

14

49,772

35,503

Other assets and intangibles

15

44,006

42,574

2,237,018

2,238,549

Total assets
Liabilities and EQUITY
Liabilities
Due to banks and other financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

16

483,271

609,790

1,432,511

1,278,618

49,344

46,877

1,965,126

1,935,285

equity
Share capital

17

88,696

84,473

Reserves

17

198,327

229,368

287,023

313,841

(43,957)

(43,957)

243,066

269,884

Treasury shares
Equity attributable to Bank’s equity shareholders
Minority interest
Total Liabilities and EQUITY

Hamad Abdul Mohsen Al-Marzouq
Chairman & Managing Director

The attached notes 1 to 26 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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28,826

33,380

271,892

303,264

2,237,018

2,238,549

-

-

-

-

-

Changes in fair values of investments available
for sale

Transferred to consolidated income statement
on sale of investments available for sale

Translation adjustment

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,223

-

Profit for the year

Total income (expenses) for the year

Net movement in minority interest in reserves

Dividend paid - 2007

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Revaluation of freehold land (Note 14)

Changes in fair values of investments available
for sale

Transferred to consolidated income statement
on sale of investments available for sale

Translation adjustment

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total income (expenses) for the year

Net movement in minority interest in reserves

Dividend paid - 2006

Transfer to reserves (Note 17)

42,237

2,760

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

39,477

44,348

2,111

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

42,237

Statutory
reserve
KD 000

The attached notes 1 to 26 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Balance as at 31 December 2007

12,883

-

-

Profit for the year

84,473

-

in equity

-

Total income (expenses) recognised directly

12,883

84,473

Balance as at 31 December 2006

-

12,883

88,696

Balance as at 31 December 2008

Transfer to reserves (Note 17)

Bonus shares issued - 2007

in equity

-

Total income (expenses) recognised directly

-

-

Revaluation of freehold land (Note 14)

-

12,883

Share
premium
KD 000

84,473

Balance as at 31 December 2007

Share
capital
KD 000

22,660

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

22,660

22,660

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

22,660

General
reserve
KD 000

69,220

(2,760)

(38,027)

-

48,179

48,179

-

-

-

-

-

61,828

76,224

(2,111)

(4,223)

(38,027)

-

51,365

51,365

-

-

-

-

-

69,220

Retained
earnings
KD 000

68,818

-

-

-

21,842

-

21,842

-

(4,718)

26,560

-

46,976

23,293

-

-

-

-

(45,525)

-

(45,525)

-

(32,650)

(12,875)

-

68,818

Cumulative
changes in
fair values
KD 000

12,753

-

-

-

2,969

-

2,969

-

-

-

2,969

9,784

18,081

-

-

-

-

5,328

-

5,328

-

-

-

5,328

12,753

Property
revaluation
reserve
KD 000

974

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

974

974

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

974

Treasury
shares
reserve
KD 000

(177)

-

-

-

(176)

-

(176)

(176)

-

-

-

(1)

(136)

-

-

-

-

41

-

41

41

-

-

-

(177)

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
KD 000

Attributable to the equity shareholders of the Bank
Reserves

229,368

-

(38,027)

-

72,814

48,179

24,635

(176)

(4,718)

26,560

2,969

194,581

198,327

-

(4,223)

(38,027)

-

11,209

51,365

(40,156)

41

(32,650)

(12,875)

5,328

229,368

Total
reserves
KD 000

(43,957)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(43,957)

(43,957)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(43,957)

Treasury
shares
KD 000

33,380

-

-

2,455

9,091

7,296

1,795

(174)

(3)

1,972

-

21,834

28,826

-

-

-

(6,717)

2,163

2,163

-

-

-

-

-

33,380

Minority
interest
KD 000

303,264

-

(38,027)

2,455

81,905

55,475

26,430

(350)

(4,721)

28,532

2,969

256,931

271,892

-

-

(38,027)

(6,717)

13,372

53,528

(40,156)

41

(32,650)

(12,875)

5,328

303,264

Total
KD 000

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year Ended 31 December 2008

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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Year Ended 31 December 2008
note

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

Operating activities
Profit for the year

53,528

55,475

(36,112)

(11,094)

Adjustments for:
Net gain on sale of investments available for sale
Share of results from associate
Dividend income
Depreciation
Provision for impairment
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities

775

-

(4,681)

(4,611)

2,153

2,010

18,531

5,208

34,194

46,988

Changes in operating assets/liabilities:
Treasury bonds

(34,013)

54,442

Central Bank of Kuwait bonds

(22,204)

(13,739)

Certificates of deposit
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and deposits with financial institutions
Loans and advances
Kuwait government debt bonds
Other assets
Due to banks and other financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Certificates of deposit
Other liabilities
Net cash from operating activities

6,202

24,457

397

(8,716)

253,757

(49,043)

(237,305)

(333,955)

-

52,381

(347)

3,163

(126,519)

181,024

153,893

210,175

-

(103,500)

7,509

7,073

35,564

70,750

(44,715)

(24,498)

66,966

33,819

Investing activities
Purchase of investments available for sale
Sale and redemption of investments available for sale
Investment in associate
Purchase of premises and equipment
Dividends received

-

(8,774)

(11,094)

(14,366)

4,681

4,611

Net movement in treasury shares of subsidiary

(1,132)

5,384

Net cash from (used in) investing activities

14,706

(3,824)

Financing activities
Repayment of the term loan
Dividend paid to Bank’s equity shareholders
Dividend paid to minorities
Proceeds from employees share option plan
Net cash used in financing activities
Net INCrease (DEcrease) in cash and balances with banks
Cash and balances with banks at 1 January
Cash and balances with banks AT 31 DECEMBER

The attached notes 1 to 26 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

8

-

(28,914)

(38,027)

(38,027)

(3,193)

(824)

631

650

(40,589)

(67,115)

9,681

(189)

173,538

173,727

183,219

173,538

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2008

1.

INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

The Bank of Kuwait and the Middle East K.S.C. (“the Bank”) is a public shareholding company incorporated in
Kuwait in 1971. It is engaged in carrying out banking activities and is regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait.
Its registered office is at Darwazat Al-Abdul Razzak, P. O. Box 71, Safat 13001, Kuwait.
The Bank is a subsidiary of Ahli United Bank B.S.C, a Bahraini bank (“the Parent”), listed on Bahrain and
Kuwait Stock Exchanges.
The Bank’s principal subsidiary is Kuwait and Middle East Financial Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed)
(“KMEFIC”), a company incorporated in the State of Kuwait and engaged in investment and portfolio
management activities for its own account and for clients. The Bank held 50.19% effective interest in KMEFIC
as at 31 December 2008 (2007: 50.23%).
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”).
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Bank on 21 January 2009.
The Bank has received an in principle approval from the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) to its request to convert
its business to an Islamic Bank in accordance with Islamic Shari’ah. This conversion is subject to final approval
from the CBK, shareholders and other regulatory authorities. The Bank is in the process of carrying out all
necessary arrangements for the conversion.

2.
2.1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use by State of Kuwait for financial services institutions
regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait. These regulations require adoption of all International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) except for the International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39: Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement requirement for collective provision, which has been replaced by the Central
Bank of Kuwait’s requirement for a minimum general provision as described under the accounting policy for
impairment of financial assets.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars, which is the functional currency of the
Bank, rounded to nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the
remeasurement at fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss, investments available for
sale, freehold land and derivative contracts.
The accounting policies are consistent with those used in the previous year except that the Group has adopted
Amendments to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The effect on the financial
performance and position of the group is discussed in Notes 10 and 12.
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2.2

New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The following standards and interpretations have been issued by the IASB, but are not yet effective:
- IFRS 1 effective 1 January 2009
- IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (Revised) effective 1 January 2009
- IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and consequential amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements effective 1 July 2009
- IFRS 8 Operating Segments effective 1 January 2009
- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised) effective 1 January 2009
- IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (Revised) effective 1 January 2009
The application of these standards will be made in the consolidated financial statements when the standard
and interpretations become effective and are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements except for IAS 1 and IFRS 8.

2.3

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as
at 31 December each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries for the purpose of consolidation are
prepared for the same reporting year and using consistent accounting policies as followed by the Bank.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis by adding together
like items of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. All material intra-group balances and transactions,
including material unrealised gains and losses arising on intra-group transactions, have been eliminated on
consolidation.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. Control is achieved where the
Bank has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. Where there is a loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include
the results for the part of the reporting year during which the Group had control. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.
Minority interest represents the share of results and net assets in consolidated subsidiaries attributable
to minority shareholders. Profit attributable to minority interest is presented in the consolidated income
statement and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from Bank’s shareholders’ equity.

2.4

Use of judgement and estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements and estimates
that affect the reported amounts of financial assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities.
These judgements and estimates also affect the revenues and expenses and the resultant provisions as well
as the fair value changes reported in the equity.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 December 2008

2.
2.4

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Use of judgement and estimates (continued)

Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention at
acquisition, i.e. whether it should be classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or
available for sale or as loans and receivables. In making these judgements, the Group considers the primary
purpose for which it is acquired and how it intends to manage and report its performance. Such judgements
also determine whether the financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at fair
value and if the changes in fair value of instruments are reported in the consolidated income statement or
directly in equity. Judgements are also made in determination of the objective evidence that a financial asset
is impaired.
In accordance with the accounting principles contained in the International Financial Reporting Standards,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that may affect the carrying values of loans
and receivables, unquoted debt and equity instruments classified as investments available for sale, freehold
land and intangible assets for the year.
Estimates are made regarding the amount and timing of future cash flows when measuring the level of
provisions required for non-performing loans and receivables as well as for impairment provisions for
investments available for sale, freehold land and intangible assets. Estimates are also made in determining
the useful lives of buildings and other premises and equipment and fair values of financial assets and
derivatives that are not quoted in an active market.
Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of
uncertainty and actual results may differ resulting in future changes in such provisions. The methodology
and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally reasonable
estimates and assumptions may have an impact on carrying amounts of loans and receivables, unquoted
debt and equity instruments classified as investments available for sale, freehold land and intangible assets
for the year.

2.5

Financial instruments - classification, measurement, recognition, de-recognition, offsetting
and reclassification

Classification
The Group classifies its financial instruments as “investments at fair value through profit or loss”, “loans and
receivables”, “investments available for sale” or “financial liability other than at fair value through profit or
loss”. Management determines the appropriate classification of each instrument at the time of acquisition.
Measurement
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value of the consideration given plus transaction
costs except for financial assets classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs on financial assets classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
(i) Investments at fair value through profit or loss
These are financial assets that are either financial assets held for trading or those designated as
investments at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. A financial asset is classified
in this category only if they are acquired principally for the purpose of generating profit from shortterm fluctuation in price or if so designated by the management in accordance with a documented
risk management or investment strategy and reported to key management personnel on that
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basis. This includes all derivative financial instruments, other than those designated as effective
hedging instruments. Financial assets classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured and carried at fair value. Resultant unrealised gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are included in the consolidated income statement.
(ii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. These are subsequently measured and carried at amortised
cost using effective interest method, adjusted for effective fair value hedges, less any provision for
impairment. Treasury bonds, Central Bank of Kuwait bonds certificates of deposit, due from banks and
deposits with financial institutions, loans and advances, Kuwait government debt bonds and certain
other assets are classified as “loan and receivables”.
(iii) Investments available for sale
These are financial assets not included in any of the above classifications and are principally those
acquired to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity
or changes in interest rate or equity prices. After initial recognition, available for sale investments are
remeasured at fair value. Unless unrealised gains and losses on remeasurement to fair value are part
of an effective hedging relationship, they are reported as a separate component of equity until the
investment is sold or otherwise disposed of, or the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the consolidated income
statement for the period. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value of investments available
for sale, which are part of an effective hedging relationship, is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement to the extent of the changes in fair value being hedged.
(iv) Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective yield method.
Fair values
For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market
prices. Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. The fair value of investments in
mutual funds, unit trusts or similar investment vehicles are based on the last published bid price.
For unquoted financial instruments fair value is determined, by reference to the market value of a similar
investment, based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for items with similar terms and risk
characteristics, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes. The estimated fair value of deposits
with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is the amount payable on demand.
The fair value of a derivative is calculated by marking to market the derivative using prevailing market rates
or internal pricing models.
For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be determined, the
investment is carried at cost less impairment provision, if any.
Recognition and de-recognition
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement
date, i.e. the date that the Group receives or delivers the asset. Changes in fair value between the trade date and
settlement date are recognised in the consolidated income statement or in equity in accordance with the policy
applicable to the related instrument. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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2.
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Recognition and de-recognition (continued)
A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised either when: (i) the rights to receive the cash flows
from the asset have expired or (ii) the Group has retained its right to receive cash flows from the assets but
has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’
arrangement; or (iii) the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a)
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. Where the
Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired.
Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated
balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Group
intends to settle on a net basis.
Reclassification
On 13 October 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) approved and published amendments
to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
to allow reclassifications of certain financial instruments held for trading to either loans and receivables or
available for sale categories with effect from 1 July 2008. Any reclassification of a financial instrument made
in periods beginning on or after 1 November 2008 takes effect from the date the reclassification was made.
2.6

Hedge accounting

The Group makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency and
credit risks, including exposures arising from forecast transactions. In order to manage particular risks, the
Group applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet the specified criteria.
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories (a) fair value hedges which
hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or firm commitments and
(b) cash flows hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability or
forecast transaction.
In case of fair value hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from
re-measuring the hedging instruments to fair value are recorded in the consolidated income statement, along
with the corresponding change in fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to that specific
hedged risk.
In relation to cash flow hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain
or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised directly in
shareholders’ equity and the ineffective portion is recognised in the consolidated income statement. For cash
flow hedges affecting future transactions that subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a
financial liability, the associated gains or losses which are recognised in shareholders’ equity are re-classified
into the consolidated income statement in the same period or periods during which the financial asset or
financial liability affects the consolidated income statement.
For hedges, which do not qualify for hedge accounting and for “held for trading” derivatives, any gains or

35

losses arising from changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are taken directly to the consolidated
income statement.
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated
or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting or the forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur or the designation is revoked. For fair value hedges of financial instruments with fixed maturities
any adjustment arising from hedge accounting is amortised over the remaining term to maturity. For
cash flow hedges, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity remains
in equity until the hedged transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to the consolidated income statement.
Derivatives are stated at fair value. Derivatives with positive market values are included in the other assets
and derivatives with negative market values are included in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.
2.7

Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group provides financial guarantees, consisting of letter of credit,
guarantees and acceptances.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being
the premium received, in other liabilities. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each
guarantee is measured at the higher of the amortised premium received and the best estimate of net cash
flow required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.
2.8

Impairment of financial assets

At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired, if and
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. If such evidence exists the
asset or group of financial assets is written down to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an
interest bearing instrument is estimated based on the net present value of future cash flows discounted at
original interest rates, and of equity instrument is determined with reference to market rates or appropriate
valuation models. For variable interest rate bearing instruments, the net present value of future cash flows is
discounted at the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of impairment loss is recognised
in the consolidated income statement.
The Group assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists on an individual basis for each individual
significant loan and collectively for others. The main criteria that the Group uses to determine that there
is objective evidence of impairment include whether any payment of principal or interest are overdue by
more than 90 days or there are any known difficulties in the cash flows including the sustainability of the
counterparty’s business plan, credit rating downgrades, breach of original terms of the contract, its ability
to improve performance once a financial difficulty has arisen, deterioration in the value of collateral etc.
The impairment losses are evaluated at each reporting date, unless unforeseen circumstances require more
careful attention.
Financial guarantees and letter of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans.
Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Bank. If, in a subsequent year,
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2.
2.8

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the “Provision
for impairment” in the consolidated income statement.
For equity instruments classified as investments available for sale, impairment losses are not reversed
through the consolidated income statement; any increase in the fair value subsequent to the recognition of
impairment loss, is recognised directly in cumulative changes in fair valuation reserve. For debt instruments
classified as investments available for sale, if in a subsequent year, the fair value of the debt instrument
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in the consolidated income statement; the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated
income statement.
General provision
In addition, in accordance with CBK instructions, a minimum general provision is made on all applicable credit
facilities (net of certain categories of collateral) that are not provided for specifically. In March 2007, the CBK
issued a circular amending the basis of making minimum general provisions on facilities changing the rate
from 2% to 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non cash facilities. The required rates were to be applied
effective from 1 January 2007 on the net increase in facilities, net of certain restricted categories of collateral
during the reporting period. The minimum general provision in excess of the present 1% for cash facilities and
0.5% for non cash facilities is retained as a general provision until further directive from the CBK.
2.9

Renegotiated loans

Where considered appropriate, the Bank seeks to restructure past due loans. This may involve extending the
payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions including enhancing collateral position.
Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future
payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment
assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.
2.10

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies outstanding at the year-end are re-translated into
Kuwaiti Dinars at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Forward foreign exchange contracts
are valued at the prevailing forward rates. Any resultant gains or losses are taken to the consolidated income
statement.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Translation difference on non-monetary investments
at fair value through profit or loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated income
statement whilst those for available for sale non-monetary assets are included in the cumulative changes
in fair value in equity, unless it is part of an effective hedging strategy, using exchange rates when the fair
value was determined.
Translation differences arising on consolidation of the subsidiaries are taken to foreign currency translation
reserve in equity.
2.11

Revenue recognition

Interest income and expenses are recognised using the effective interest method. The calculation includes
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all contractual terms of the financial instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the interest rate, except allowance for future credit
losses.
Once a financial instrument categorised as “loans and receivables” is impaired, interest income is thereafter
recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.
When the Group enters into an interest rate swap to change interest from fixed to floating (or vice versa) the
amount of interest income or expense is adjusted by the net interest on the swap.
Credit origination fees are treated as an integral part of the effective interest rate of financial instruments
and are recognised over their lives, except when the underlying risk is sold to a third party at which time it
is recognised immediately.
Interest income and expenses for all interest bearing financial instruments including those classified as fair
value through profit or loss and available for sale, are recognised within interest income in the consolidated
income statement.
Fees and commission that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are
treated as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. Other fees and commission income are recognised
when earned.
Dividend income is recognised when right to receive payment is established.
2.12

Investment in associate

Associates are entities in which the Group exerts significant influence represented by an interest of between
20% and 50% in the voting capital and is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Investments in associate
companies are accounted for using the equity method, except when the investment is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5: Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried at cost as adjusted
by post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the
value of individual investments. Share of losses in an associate in excess of Group’s interest are recognised
only to the extent the Group has a legal or constructive obligation.
The reporting dates of the associate and the Group are identical and the associate’s accounting policies
conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
2.13

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
their useful economic lives and assessed and adjusted for impairment whenever there is an indication that
an intangible asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but are
tested annually for impairment and adjusted for the same, if any.
2.14

Premises and equipment

Freehold land is initially recognised at cost. After initial recognition freehold land is carried at revalued amount,
which is the fair value at the date of revaluation. The revaluation is carried out periodically by professional
property valuers. The resultant revaluation surplus or deficit is recognised, as a separate component under
equity to the extent the deficit does not exceed the previously recognised surplus. The portion of the revaluation
deficit that exceeds a previously recognised revaluation surplus is recognised in the consolidated income
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2.
2.14

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Premises and equipment (continued)

statement. To the extent that a revaluation surplus reverses a revaluation decrease previously recognised in
the consolidated income statement, the increase is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Upon
disposal the revaluation reserve relating to the freehold land sold is transferred to retained earnings.
Buildings, other premises and equipments are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses if any. Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation of buildings and other premises and equipment
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful lives of the assets for the calculation of depreciation are as follows:
Buildings
Other premises and equipment
2.15

20 to 30 years
2 to 5 years

Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Bank’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group and not yet
reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the
weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity. When the treasury
shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the “treasury shares reserve”), which
is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance
on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the general reserve and statutory
reserve. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously
recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the treasury shares reserve account. No cash
dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock dividend shares increases the number of treasury
shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury
shares.
2.16

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and balances with banks include cash, balances with other banks, money at call and short notice with
banks and financial institutions maturing within seven days.
2.17

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic
resources will be required to settle a present, legal or constructive obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated.
2.18

Fiduciary assets

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not
included in these consolidated financial statements.
3.
INTEREST INCOME
		
Interest income has been reduced by KD Nil in 2008 (2007: KD 284 thousands) representing adjustment arising
from revised estimate of future cash flows, discounted at the original contracted rate of interest from a portfolio
of performing loans whose terms have been modified in accordance with CBK circular issued during 2007.
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4.

NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME
2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

Investment management fees

7,230

8,427

Credit related fees and commissions

1,894

1,713

Trade finance fees

4,572

2,643

Brokerage fees

6,789

9,618

Credit cards fees and commission

2,964

2,825

440

518

23,889

25,744

(870)

(981)

23,019

24,763

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

15,848

5,466

Placements with financial institutions

(37)

20

Non-cash credit facilities (Note 16)

578

29

1,465

141

677

(448)

18,531

5,208

Other fees and commission
Total fees and commission income

Fees and commission expense
Net fees and commission income

5.

PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT

Loans and advances (Note 11)

Investment available for sale
Others

6.

Proposed dividend

The Board of Directors of the Bank has proposed a cash dividend of 30% (2007: 50%) amounting to 30 fils
per share (2007: 50 fils per share) and bonus shares of 10% (2007: 5%). The proposed dividend is subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the Bank’s Annual General Assembly.
The cash dividend, bonus shares along with directors’ fees for the year ended 31 December 2007 were
approved by the Bank’s Annual General Assembly held on 6 March 2008 and paid during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 December 2008

7.

BASIC and Diluted Earnings per share

Profit for the year attributable to the Bank’s equity

2008

2007

51,365

48,179

798,574,147

798,574,147

64.3

60.3

shareholders (KD 000s)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
Basic and diluted earnings per share (fils)

The weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year is calculated after adjusting for treasury
shares as follows:

Weighted average number of Bank’s issued and paid up shares

886,963,147

886,963,147

Less: Weighted average number of treasury shares

(88,389,000)

(88,389,000)

798,574,147

798,574,147

Earnings per share was 63.3 fils for the year ended 31 December 2007 before retroactive adjustment to the
number of shares following the bonus issue (Note 6).

8.

Cash and balances with banks

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

Balances with the Central Bank of Kuwait

13,196

2,689

Cash in hand and current account balances with other banks

54,372

55,272

Money at call and short notice (maturing within seven days)

115,651

115,577

183,219

173,538

9.

Treasury bonds AND CENTRAL BANK OF KUWAIT BONDS

These financial instruments are issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait either on behalf of the Ministry of
Finance or its own behalf, acquired from the primary market by the Group, and are classified as loans and
receivables.
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10.

InvestmentS at fair value through profit or loss

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

- Funds

5,223

29,400

- Equity investments

1,019

1,242

6,242

30,642

Financial assets held for trading

Certain investments in funds with a fair value of KD 24,003 thousand have been reclassified to investments
available for sale (Note 12) following the implementation of amendments of IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement (Note 2) as these investments were no longer held for the purpose of selling
or repurchasing in the near term.
11.

Loans and advances

The movement in provision for impairment of loans and advances by class is as follows:

Retail loans
KD 000

Commercial loans
KD 000

Total
KD 000

20,006

23,760

43,766

6,677

9,171

15,848

-

(10)

(10)

(181)

-

(181)

At 31 December 2008

26,502

32,921

59,423

At 1 January 2007

15,481

22,995

38,476

4,599

867

5,466

-

(102)

(102)

(74)

-

(74)

20,006

23,760

43,766

At 1 January 2008
Charge for the year (Note 5)
Ceded to CBK
Amounts written off

Charge for the year (Note 5)
Ceded to CBK
Amounts written off
At 31 December 2007

As at 31 December 2008, non-performing loans and advances on which interest income have been suspended
from recognition amounted to KD 46,728 thousand (31 December 2007: KD 34,543 thousand).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 December 2008

11.

Loans and advances (continued)

The split of non-performing facilities granted and related provision for impairment between pre-invasion and
post-liberation are as follows:
Pre-invasion
KD 000  

Post liberation
KD 000  

Total   
KD 000

At 31 December 2008
Loans and advances

1,860

44,868

46,728

Provision for impairment

1,860

26,934

28,794

At 31 December 2007
Loans and advances

1,870

32,673

34,543

Provision for impairment

1,870

20,235

22,105

The provision charge for the year on non-cash facilities is KD 578 thousand (2007: KD 29 thousand). The
available provision on non-cash facilities of KD 4,626 thousand (2007: KD 4,048 thousand) is included in other
liabilities (Note 16).
The policy of the Group for calculation of the impairment provision for loans and advances complies in all
material respects with the specific provision requirements of Central Bank of Kuwait.
The analysis of provisions set out above is based on the requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait. According
to the Central Bank of Kuwait instructions, a minimum general provision of 1% for cash facilities and 0.5%
for non cash facilities has been made on all applicable credit facilities (net of certain categories of collateral),
that are not provided for specifically.
The Central Bank of Kuwait in accordance with Decree No. 32/1992 and Law No. 41/93, as amended, has
funded provisions in respect of pre-invasion loans and advances. Any recoveries made against these provisions
are ceded to the Central Bank of Kuwait in accordance with the prevalent law, and are not included in the
consolidated income statement.

12.

InvestmentS AVAILABLE FOR SALE
2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

194

273

- Quoted

94,712

108,272

- Unquoted

27,656

33,571

122,562

142,116

Debt securities - unquoted

Equity securities and funds

Investments available for sale include unquoted equity instruments carried at cost of KD 3,271 thousand (31
December 2007: KD 2,562 thousand).
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During the year, the Group has recorded unrealised losses of KD 1,939 thousand in respect of the reclassified
investments in cumulative changes in fair value within equity. Had the Group not implemented the
amendments to IAS 39, these unrealised losses would have been recorded in the consolidated income
statement (Note 2 and 10).
During the year, the Group has disposed of an investment available for sale for a total consideration of KD
27,645 thousand, and realised a gain on disposal of KD 20,603 thousand.
13.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

The Group has 30% (2007: 30%) interest in Middle East Financial Investment Company, an unquoted company
incorporated in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia engaged in investment activities. The associate commenced
operations during the fourth quarter of 2007.
The share in assets, liabilities, revenues and result of the associate for the period ended 31 December 2008
is as follows:
2008
KD 000
SHARE OF ASSOCIATE’S BALANCE SHEET:
7,998

Current assets

293

Non-current assets

(230)

Current liabilities

(13)

Non-current liabilities
Net assets

8,048

Share of associate’s revenueS and loss:
Operating loss

(213)

Loss for the period

(775)

14.

Premises and equipment

Premises and equipment include KD 5,328 thousand (2007: KD 2,969 thousand) being the increase in
the value of freehold land due to revaluation in 2008. The revaluation was based on valuation report of
independent valuation experts.
15.

Other assets and INtangibles

Interest receivable
Stock exchange brokerage licences
Positive fair value of derivatives
Others

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

9,838

11,970

12,692

12,692

2,731

2,664

18,745

15,248

44,006

42,574

Stock exchange brokerage licenses are classified as intangible assets with an indefinite life.
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16.

Other liabilities
2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

17,825

16,251

Provision for staff indemnity

5,094

4,629

Provision for non-cash credit facilities (Note 5)

4,626

4,048

750

1,364

21,049

20,585

49,344

46,877

Interest payable

Negative fair value of derivatives
Others

17.	equity
(i) The authorised, issued and fully paid share capital as at 31 December 2008 comprises
886,963,147ordinary shares (31 December 2007: 844,726,807 shares) respectively of 100 fils each.
(ii) The Bank is required by the Commercial Companies’ Law and the Bank’s articles of association to
transfer 10% of the profit for the year attributable to the Bank’s equity shareholders before KFAS,
NLST, Zakat and Board of Directors’ fees to the statutory reserve. The Bank may resolve to discontinue
such annual transfers when the statutory reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital. Accordingly,
as approved by the shareholders at the Bank’s Annual General Assembly, the Bank has transferred KD
2,111 thousand in 2008 (2007: KD 2,760 thousand) to the statutory reserve representing the amount
required to reach 50% of paid up share capital. Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the
amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of up to 5% of share capital in years when
retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of such dividend.
(iii) The balances of share premium and treasury shares reserve are not available for distribution. The
balance in the property revaluation reserve is not available for distribution unless the relevant assets
are derecognised.
(iv) The articles of association of the Bank require that an amount of not less than 10% of the profit for the
year attributable to the Bank’s equity shareholders before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of Directors’
fee should be transferred annually to a general reserve account. The Board of Directors have resolved
to discontinue such transfer from the year ended 31 December 2007 onwards, which was approved
by the shareholders at the Bank’s Annual General Assembly on 6 March 2008.
(v) The cost of the Bank’s own shares purchased, including directly attributable costs, is recognised in
equity. In accordance with the instructions of the Central Bank of Kuwait the Bank may purchase
treasury shares equal to 10% of the issued shares.
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18.

Treasury shares

There was no purchase or sale of treasury shares during the current year.
2008

2007

88,389,000

84,180,000

Treasury shares as a percentage of total shares

9.97%

9.97%

Cost of treasury shares (KD 000)

43,957

43,957

Market value of treasury shares (KD 000)

45,078

68,186

Number of treasury shares

19.

Related party transactions

The Group enters into transactions with the parent, associates, major shareholders, directors and key
management, close members of their families and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by such parties in the ordinary course of business. The terms of these transactions are approved
by the Group’s management.
The year-end balances included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
Number of directors
and executive officers

2008

2007

Number of parties related to
directors and executive officers

Amount

2008

2007

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

Directors
Loans and advances

3

3

5

4

20,279

15,271

Deposits taken

7

3

8

5

3,474

2,189

Commitments and contingent liabilities

-

-

2

1

796

387

Foreign exchange contracts

-

-

1

1

6,423

2,996

Loans and advances

1

-

-

1

3

481

Deposits taken

1

-

-

2

260

5

Key Management

2008
KD 000
Other related
Parent
parties

2007
KD 000
Parent

Other related
parties

Deposits placed

36,204

-

42,356

114

Deposits taken

29,292

313,648

64,153

169,934

Commitments and contingent liabilities

5,550

608

4,834

-

Foreign exchange contracts

8,028

1,497

9,495

-

The related interest income and interest expense of the above balances are included in the consolidated
income statement.
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19.

Related party transactions (CONTINUED)

The transactions included in the consolidated income statement are as follows:
2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

805

999

67

114

872

1,113

Key management compensation:
Salaries and other short term benefits
Post employment benefits

20.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

a) Credit-related commitments
Credit-related commitments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, guarantees and
acceptances, which are designed to meet the requirements of the Group’s customers.
Letters of credit (including standby letter of credit) guarantees and acceptances commit the Group to make
payments on behalf of customer’s contingent upon failure of the customers to perform under the terms of
the contract.
Commitment to extend credit represents contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments
may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements.
The Group has the following credit related commitments:
2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

Acceptances

10,873

16,135

Letters of credit

78,854

53,697

311,749

184,910

401,476

254,742

Guarantees

Irrevocable loan commitments to extend credit at the balance sheet date amounted to KD 64 thousand (2007:
KD 5,192 thousand).
b) Other commitment
The capital commitment for purchase of assets as at 31 December 2008 is KD 5,514 thousand (2007: KD
5,363 thousand).
21.

DERIVATIVES

In ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative
financial instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where
payments are dependent upon movements in price of one or more underlying financial instruments, reference
rate or index.
The contractual or notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference
rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The contractual or
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notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year-end and are neither indicative
of the market risk nor the credit risk.
The table below shows the fair value of derivative financial instruments and their notional amounts:
At 31 December 2008
Net fair value
KD 000

Total notional
amounts
KD 000

1,981

115,574

Derivatives held for trading:
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps

-

426

1,981

116,000

Net fair value
KD 000

Total notional
amounts
KD 000

1,300

83,084

At 31 December 2007

Derivatives held for trading:
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate swaps

-

221

1,300

83,305

Derivative financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes
Most of the Bank’s derivative trading activities relate to deals with customers which are normally matched
by entering into reciprocal deals with counterparties. The Bank also takes positions with the expectation of
profiting from favourable movements in prices, rates on indices. Also included under this heading are any
derivatives which do not meet IAS 39 hedging requirements.
22.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the amount at which an asset, liability or financial instrument could be exchanged or settled
between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Underlying the definition of fair value
is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention, or need, to liquidate, curtail
materially the scale of its operations or undertake a transaction on adverse terms.
The estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities and off balance sheet financial instruments, except
for certain unquoted equity instruments classified as investments available for sale (Note 12), approximated
their respective net book values at the balance sheet date.
Financial instruments measured at fair value
Fair value of all the financial assets carried a fair value are based on quoted market price except for certain
unquoted instruments classified as investments available for sale whose fair value is determined using
valuation techniques where all the model inputs are observable in the market. Value of such investments
amounts to KD 28,385 thousand (2007: KD 8,807 thousand)
Financial instruments measured at amortized cost
For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short term contractual maturity
(less than three months) it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This
assumption is also applied to demand deposits, savings accounts without a specific maturity and variable rate
financial instruments.
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23.

MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below summaries the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities:
At 31 December 2008
Up to 3
months
KD 000

3 to 12
months
KD 000

Over
1 year
KD 000

Total
KD 000

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks
Treasury bonds
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds
Certificates of deposit
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and deposits with financial institutions
Loans and advances
Investments available for sale
Investment in associate
Premises and equipment
Other assets and intangibles
Total assets

183,219
61,154
35,943
13,798
6,242
43,424
628,682
60,005
24,429
1,056,896

159,140
214,812
73
5,608
379,633

36,778
629,438
62,484
8,048
49,772
13,969
800,489

183,219
257,072
35,943
13,798
6,242
43,424
1,472,932
122,562
8,048
49,772
44,006
2,237,018

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and other financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

368,370
1,041,616
36,990
1,446,976

108,302
382,760
7,519
498,581

6,599
8,135
4,835
19,569

483,271
1,432,511
49,344
1,965,126

(118,948)

780,920

271,892

Up to 3
months
KD 000

3 to 12
months
KD 000

Over
1 year
KD 000

Total
KD 000

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks
Treasury bonds
Central Bank of Kuwait bonds
Certificates of deposit
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Due from banks and deposits with financial institutions
Loans and advances
Investments available for sale
investment in associate
Premises and equipment
Other assets and intangibles
Total assets

173,538
29,566
13,739
20,000
30,642
297,128
387,230
93,502
25,737
1,071,082

124,382
342,235
149
2,868
469,634

69,111
522,011
48,465
8,774
35,503
13,969
697,833

173,538
223,059
13,739
20,000
30,642
297,128
1,251,476
142,116
8,774
35,503
42,574
2,238,549

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and other financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

415,618
1,011,827
33,507
1,460,952

194,172
260,259
9,136
463,567

6,532
4,234
10,766

609,790
1,278,618
46,877
1,935,285

Net liquidity gap

(389,870)

6,067

687,067

303,264

Net liquidity gap

(390,080)  

At 31 December 2007
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24.

Financial instruments and RISK MANAGEMENT

Strategy in using financial instruments
The Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments including derivatives. It
accepts deposits from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for various periods and seeks to earn
targeted interest margins by investing these funds in quality assets. It also seeks to increase these margins
by consolidating short-term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates while maintaining sufficient
liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due.
The Group also seeks to raise interest margins by obtaining targeted yields, net of provisions, through facilities
to commercial and retail borrowers with a range of credit standing. Such facilities include letters of credit and
other commitments such as advance payment, performance and other bonds.
With the exception of specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures associated
with derivatives are normally offset by entering into counterbalancing positions, thereby controlling the
variability in the net cash amounts required to liquidate market positions.
RISK MANAGEMENT
The use of financial instruments also brings with it associated inherent risks. The Group recognises the
relationship between returns and risks associated with the use of financial instruments and the management
of risks forms an integral part of the Group’s strategic objectives.
The strategy of the Group is to maintain a strong risk management culture and manage the risk/reward
relationship within and across each of the Group’s major risk-based lines of business. The Group continuously
reviews its risk management policies and practices to ensure that it is not subject to large asset valuation and
earnings volatility.
Group’s objectives, policies and process for managing its risk are explained in detail in the Pillar 3 disclosures
of the Annual Report. The following sections describe the several risks inherent in the banking process, their
nature, techniques used to minimise the risks, their significance and impact on profit and loss and equity due
to future expected changes in market conditions.
A.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Group attempts to control risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting
transactions with specific counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties.
Concentration of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities
or activities in the same geographic region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments,
affecting a particular industry or geographic location.
The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through diversification of lending activities to avoid undue
concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or businesses. It also
obtains security, when appropriate. The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment
of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of
collateral and valuation parameters.
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A.

Financial instruments and RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
CREDIT RISK (continued)

The main types of collateral obtained for commercial lending include charges over bank deposits and balances,
listed securities, real estate, plant and equipment, inventory and trade receivables.
Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the
underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy
of the allowance for impairment losses.
Geographical and industry-wise concentration of assets and off balance sheet items:
At 31 December 2008
Assets
Representing
Credit risk
KD 000

Contingencies &
Commitments
Representing
Credit risk
KD 000

1,870,829

349,632

Geographic region:
Kuwait
Other Middle East

134,480

49,249

Europe

23,941

1,481

U.S.A. and Canada

30,007

166

Rest of the World

15,559

1,012

2,074,816

401,540

Trading and manufacturing

345,698

95,159

Banks and financial institutions

596,917

56,020

Construction and real estate

351,170

225,307

Other

781,031

25,054

2,074,816

401,540

Assets
Representing
Credit risk
KD 000

Contingencies &
Commitments
Representing
Credit risk
KD 000

Industry sector:

At 31 December 2007

Geographic region:
Kuwait

1,659,754

204,237

Other Middle East

198,577

50,862

Europe

156,050

2,167

U.S.A. and Canada

2,972

1,804

Rest of the World

6,497

864

2,023,850

259,934

Trading and manufacturing

278,377

87,284

Banks and financial institutions

743,272

51,561

Construction and real estate

331,369

62,713

Other

670,832

58,376

2,023,850

259,934

Industry sector:
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The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet,
including derivatives and off-balance sheet items without taking account of any collateral and other credit
enhancements.
Gross
maximum
exposure
2008
KD 000

Gross
maximum
exposure
2007
KD 000

Balances with banks

173,431

167,401

Treasury bonds

Credit risk exposures relating to balance sheet items:
257,072

223,059

Central Bank of Kuwait bonds

35,943

13,739

Certificates of deposits

13,798

20,000

Due from banks and deposits with financial institutions

43,424

297,128

427,014

380,124

1,105,341

915,118

Retail loans
Commercial loans
Investments available for sale - unquoted debt securities
Other assets

194

273

18,599

7,008

2,074,816

2,023,850

401,476

254,742

64

5,192

401,540

259,934

Credit risk exposures relating to off –balance sheet items:
Acceptances, letters of credit, and guarantees (Note 20a)
Irrevocable loan commitments

The gross maximum credit exposure to a single client or counterparty as of 31 December 2008 was KD 47,434
thousand (2007: KD 35,283 thousand) and credit exposure net of eligible collateral to the same counterparty
was KD 1,934 thousand (2007: KD 35,283 thousand).
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A.

Financial instruments and RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
CREDIT RISK (continued)

The Group follows a very conservative credit policy. Credit quality of the financial assets is managed by the
Group with a combination of external and internal ratings mechanism. It is the Bank’s policy to maintain
accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio. This facilitates focused management of the
applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all lines of business, geographic regions and
products. The rating system is supported by a variety of financial analytics, combined with processed market
information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of counterparty risk. All internal risk ratings are
tailored to the various categories and are derived in accordance with the Bank’s rating policy.
The credit quality of class of assets with underlying credit risks are as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired

(KD 000)
High Grade

Standard
Grade

Closely
monitored

Total

Balances with banks

173,431

-

-

173,431

Treasury bonds

257,072

-

-

257,072

Central Bank of Kuwait bonds

35,943

-

-

35,943

Certificates of deposits

13,798

-

-

13,798

At 31 December 2008

43,424

-

-

43,424

Retail loans

391,972

-

-

391,972

Commercial loans

894,553

167,562

5,567

1,067,682

194

-

-

194

18,599

-

-

18,599

1,828,986

167,562

5,567

2,002,115

Due from banks and deposits with financial institutions

Investments available for sale-unquoted debt securities
Other assets

Neither past due nor impaired
										
At 31 December 2007

High Grade

Standard
Grade

(KD 000)

Closely
monitored

Total

Balances with banks

167,401

-

-

167,401

Treasury bonds

223,059

-

-

223,059

13,739

-

-

13,739

Central Bank of Kuwait bonds
Certificates of deposits

20,000

-

-

20,000

Due from banks and deposits with financial institutions

297,128

-

-

297,128

Retail loans

357,145

-

-

357,145

Commercial loans

827,588

63,827

722

892,137

Investments available for sale-unquoted debt securities
Other assets

273

-

-

273

7,008

-

-

7,008

1,913,341

63,827

722

1,977,890
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Financial assets by class that are past due but not impaired:
At 31 December 2008
Past due upto
60 days
  KD 000

Past due 61
to 90 days
   KD 000

Total
KD 000

Retail loans

5,113

2,372

7,485

Commercial loans

7,527

10,961

18,488

12,640

13,333

25,973
5,292

Fair value of collateral

At 31 December 2007

Retail loans
Commercial loans

Past due upto
60 days
  KD 000

Past due 61
to 90 days
   KD 000

Total
KD 000

4,237

2,452

6,689

4,404

324

4,728

8,641

2,776

11,417

Fair value of collateral

3,195

Financial assets by class that are impaired:
At 31 December 2008
Gross
exposure
  KD 000

Impairment
provision   
KD 000

Fair value
of collateral
KD 000

Retail loans

27,557

20,238

-

Commercial loans

19,171

8,556

11,426

46,728

28,794

11,426

At 31 December 2007
Gross
exposure
  KD 000
Retail loans
Commercial loans

16,290

Impairment
provision   
KD 000

Fair value
of collateral
KD 000

13,074

-

18,253

9,031

12,721

34,543

22,105

12,721

The factors the Group considered in determining impairment are disclosed in note 2 significant accounting policies.

Renegotiated loans:
The Group has not renegotiated any financial asset that would otherwise be past due or impaired.
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B.

Financial instruments and RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk
can also be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding
to dry up immediately. To guard against this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets
are managed with liquidity in mind, maintaining an adequate balance of cash, cash equivalents, and readily
marketable securities.
Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2008 based
on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as
if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request
repayment earlier than the contractual date and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated
by the Bank’s deposit retention history.

Less than
1 month
KD 000

1 to 3
months
KD 000

3 to 12
months
KD 000

1 to 5
years
KD 000

Over
5 years
KD 000

Total
KD 000

Due to banks and other
financial institutions

194,735

175,199

109,509

6,601

-

486,044

Deposits from customers

748,288

296,390

393,525

9,478

86

1,447,767

30,598

6,392

7,519

3,827

1,008

49,344

973,621

477,981

510,553

19,906

1,094

1,983,155

Due to banks and other
financial institutions

307,363

111,410

200,700

3

-

619,476

Deposits from customers

687,667

329,021

269,493

7,599

131

1,293,911

26,166

7,360

9,136

4,313

4

46,979

1,021,196

447,791

479,329

11,915

135

1,960,366

At 31 December 2008

Other liabilities

At 31 December 2007

Other liabilities

Refer Note 23 ‘Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities’ for maturities of the financial liabilities shown above.
The financial liabilities shown in Note 23 excludes future interest payments.
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The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Bank’s contingent liabilities and commitments:
Less than
1 month
KD 000

1 to 3
months
KD 000

3 to 12
months
KD 000

1 to 5
years
KD 000

Over
5 years
KD 000

Total
KD 000

13,446

62,524

242,182

81,111

2,213

401,476

Capital commitments

-

-

4,441

1,073

-

5,514

Irrevocable loan commitments

-

-

-

-

64

64

13,446

62,524

246,623

82,184

2,277

407,054

9,584

60,072

91,197

91,402

2,487

254,742

Capital commitments

-

-

-

5,363

-

5,363

Irrevocable loan commitments

-

-

737

903

3,552

5,192

9,584

60,072

91,934

97,668

6,039

265,297

At 31 December 2008
Credit related contingent
liabilities

At 31 December 2007
Credit related contingent
liabilities

Derivative cash flows
The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross and net
basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual
maturity date:
Less than
1 month
KD 000

1 to 3
months
KD 000

3 to 12
months
KD 000

1 to 5
years
KD 000

Over
5 years
KD 000

Total
KD 000

106,104

2,751

6,719

-

-

115,574

74,572

1,804

6,708

-

-

83,084

At 31 December 2008
Gross settled derivatives:
Forward foreign exchange
contracts

At 31 December 2007
Gross settled derivatives:
Forward foreign exchange
contracts
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C.

Financial instruments and RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
MARKET RISK

The Bank defines market risk as the uncertainty in future earnings on the Bank’s on and off balance sheet
positions resulting from changes in market conditions.
C.1

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the value of the underlying
financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the
amounts of assets and liabilities and off balance sheet instruments that mature or reprice in a given period.
The Group manages this risk by matching or hedging the repricing profile of assets and liabilities through risk
management strategies.
The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities reprice within one year. Accordingly there is a limited
exposure to interest rate risk.
The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when used in
a present value calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for
a fixed rate instrument carried at amortised cost and a current market rate for a floating rate instrument or
an instrument carried at fair value.
The table below details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. Financial instruments are reported based
on the earlier of their contractual repricing date or maturity date.
The sensitivity of net interest income for one year is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on
interest bearing financial assets and liabilities including the effect of hedging instruments held as at the
balance sheet date.
Sensitivity of net interest income

Currency
KD
Other currencies

Increase in basis
points

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

25
25

857
(98)

714
(102)

Sensitivity to interest rate movements will be on a symmetric basis, as financial instruments giving rise to
non-symmetric movements are not significant.

C.2

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions
are maintained within established limits.
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The Group is a Kuwaiti entity with Kuwaiti Dinars as its functional currency.
The Group had the following net exposures denominated in foreign currencies.
2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

Equivalent Long (Short)

Equivalent Long (Short)

US Dollars

(497)

(14,634)

GCC Currencies

3,191

Egyptian Pounds
Others

4,969

18,486

16,997

1,982

133

The effect on profit before tax, as a result of change in currency rate, with all other variables held constant
is shown below:
Effect on profit before tax

Currency
Change in currency
rate in %

2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

+5%

(215)

(798)

US Dollars

			
Sensitivity to currency rate movements will be on a symmetric basis, as financial instruments giving rise to
non-symmetric movements are not significant.
C.3

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments decrease as a result of the changes in
the level of equity indices and the value of the individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure
arises from the Bank’s investment portfolio.
The effect of equity as a result of a change in the fair value of the equity instruments held as investments
available for sale at 31 December 2008 due to a reasonable possible change in the equity indices, with all
other variables held as constant is as follows:
2008

2007

Changes in
equity price %

Effect on
profit or loss
KD 000

Effect on
equity
KD 000

Effect on profit
or loss
KD 000

Effect on
equity
KD 000

Kuwait index

+10%

85

1,432

2,148

1,661

MSCI index

+10%

-

-

865

-

Market indices

Sensitivity to equity price movements will be on a symmetric basis, as financial instruments giving rise to
non-symmetric movements are not significant.
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C.
C.4

Financial instruments and RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
MARKET RISK (continued)
Prepayment risk

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties
repay or request repayment earlier than expected, such as fixed rate loans when interest rates fall.
Most of the bank’s interests bearing financial assets are at floating rates. Also, the interest bearing financial
liabilities have a maturity of less than 1 year and accordingly, the bank is not exposed to significant
prepayment risk.
D.

OPERATIONAL RISK

The Group has a set of policies and procedures approved by the Board of Directors and are applied to identify,
assess and supervise operational risk in addition to other types of risk relating to the banking and financial
activities of the Group.
Operational risk is managed by the Risk Management Division. This Division ensures compliance with policies
and procedures to identify, assess, supervise and monitor operational risk as part of overall Global Risk
Management.
The Bank complies in all material respects with the Central Bank of Kuwait instructions dated 14 November
1996 regarding general guidelines for internal control systems and directives issued on 13 October 2003
regarding “Sound Practices for the Management and Control of Operational Risks”.

25.

Segment reporting

Primary segment information
The Group is organised into functional divisions in order to manage its various lines of business.
• Retail and Commercial Banking – comprising a full range of credit and deposit services provided to retail
and corporate customers;
• Treasury and Investment Management – comprising correspondent banking, clearing, money market, foreign
exchange, government bills and bonds, other treasury and miscellaneous operations, proprietary investment,
securities trading activities and fiduciary fund management activities.
Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and an allocation of cost of
funds to segments based on the daily weighted average balance of segment assets.
Segment assets and liabilities comprise those operating assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to
the segment.
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Capital expenditure represents the total cost incurred during the period to acquire assets that are expected to
be used in more that one reporting period.

Retail and Commercial
Banking
2008
2007
KD 000
KD 000

Treasury and Investment
Management
2008
2007
KD 000
KD 000

Total
2008
KD 000

2007
KD 000

Segment revenue

54,811

61,097

51,135

31,565

105,946

92,662

Segment result

14,020

29,788

39,508

25,687

53,528

55,475

53,528

55,475

2,164,565

2,175,263

Profit for the year
Segment assets

1,698,703

1,438,030

465,862

737,233

Unallocated assets
Total assets
Segment liabilities

1,080,422

924,234

835,360

950,703

Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities
Capital expenditure
Provisions for
impairment

16,776

5,018

1,755

190

72,453

63,286

2,237,018

2,238,549

1,915,782

1,874,937

49,344

60,348

1,965,126

1,935,285

11,094

14,366

18,531

5,208

Secondary segment information
The Bank’s head office and all its branches are located in the State of Kuwait. The Bank’s subsidiary (KMEFIC)
has some of its subsidiaries located outside Kuwait. The segment revenue earned by the KMEFIC from
customers located outside Kuwait is immaterial.
The distribution of the assets and liabilities by geographical area is set out in the following tables:

At 31 December 2008
Assets
KD 000

Liabilities
KD 000

1,993,594

1,892,967

Geographic region:
Kuwait
Other Middle East

145,893

47,226

Europe

28,175

18,738

U.S.A. and Canada

32,100

15

Rest of the World

37,256

6,180

2,237,018

1,965,126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
31 December 2008

25.
Segment reporting (continued)
Secondary segment information (continued)
At 31 December 2007
Assets
KD 000

Liabilities
KD 000

Geographic region:
Kuwait

1,798,253

1,694,763

Other Middle East

242,236

148,706

Europe

163,418

70,731

9,093

4,676

U.S.A. and Canada
Rest of the World

25,549

16,409

2,238,549

1,935,285

The distribution of the off-balance sheet items by geographical area is set out in Note 24.
26.	capital adequacy
The disclosures relating to the Capital Adequacy Regulations issued by Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) as
stipulated in CBK circular number 2/BS/184/2005 dated 21 December 2005 and the disclosures required by
the amendments of IAS 1- Capital disclosures are included under the section ‘Pillar III’ of the annual report.
Capital management
The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally
imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Bank may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
capital securities. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years
in this respect.

PILLAR 3 – DISCLOSURES
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31 December 2008

Information on Subsidiaries AND Significant Investments
The public disclosures under this section have been prepared in accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK)
Rules and Regulations concerning Capital Adequacy Standard (Basel II) vide circular reference 2/RB/184/2005
dated 21 December 2005, which apply to The Bank of Kuwait and The Middle East (“the Bank”). The disclosures
under this section consist of disclosures of the Bank and its subsidiary together known as “the Group”.
The Bank’s principal subsidiary is Kuwait and Middle East Financial Investment Company K.S.C. (closed)
{subsidiary}, a company incorporated in the State of Kuwait and engaged in investment management activities
and regulated by the CBK.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated on a line by line basis for both accounting and regulatory reporting purposes.
Minority interest arising on consolidation is reported as a part of equity for accounting purposes and recognized
as part of Tier 1 Capital for regulatory reporting purposes.
Fund transfer transactions within the Group are in accordance with the CBK instructions BS/101/1995 on
Maximum Credit Concentration Limits and subsequent amendments/updates. Investments by the Bank in the
Group are in accordance with the CBK instruction NO 2/BS/79/2000 on Organization of Local Bank’s Investment
Policy and subsequent amendments/updates.
Information Related to the Capital Structure of the Licensed Bank
The authorized, issued and fully paid share capital as at 31 December 2008 comprises 886,963,147 ordinary
shares of 100 fils each. Cost of treasury shares acquired by the Bank are reduced from the Tier 1 capital. In
accordance with the CBK instruction vide circular 2/BS/75/1999 and subsequent amendments / updates, the
Group may purchase treasury shares equal to 10% of the issued shares. No cash dividend is paid on treasury
shares held by the Group.
Table 1 – Capital Structure

Tier 1 capital
Paid up share capital
Reserves
Minority interest in the equity of consolidated subsidiary
Less:
Treasury shares
Goodwill
Significant minority equity investment
Total Tier 1 capital
Tier 2 capital
Less:
Significant minority equity investment
Total

KD 000
Funded
88,696
133,105
28,826
(43,957)
(1,277)
(4,024)
201,369
37,186
(4,024)
234,531
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Information on Licensed Bank’s Capital Adequacy
The process of assessing the capital requirements of the Group commences with the compilation of the
annual business plan by individual business units which are then consolidated into the annual budget plan of
the Group. The annual budget plan provides an estimate of the overall growth in assets, its impact on capital
and targeted profitability.
Annual dividend payout, is prudently determined and proposed by the Board of Directors (the Board),
endeavoring to meet shareholder expectations while ensuring adequate retention of capital to support
budgeted growth.
The Group ensures that capital adequacy ratios are maintained above the regulatory minimum.
The Group assesses the adequacy of its capital to support its current and future activities on an ongoing basis.
Risk weighted assets and capital are monitored periodically to assess the quantum of capital available to
support assets growth and optimally deploy capital to achieve targeted returns.
The Group regularly monitors its credit and market risks exposures, limits transactions with specific
counterparties, and continually assesses the creditworthiness of counter parties to avoid any unexpected
capital charge.
The Bank’s credit rating continues to be rated “A-” by Capital Intelligence and “A-” by Fitch. Given the
favorable ratings, the Bank is confident of meeting any additional capital requirements by resorting to
eligible subordinated debt at competitive pricing to support any need for regulatory capital requirement and
maintaining it at optimal levels.
Currently the Group’s measurement of capital requirement is based on the CBK guidelines on capital adequacy.
However the Group ultimately, aims to achieve a convergence of the regulatory capital with economic capital
as it adopts advanced risk measurements for performance evaluation and capital adequacy.
Table 2 – Capital requirement for Credit, Market and Operational Risks
Standard portfolio

KD 000

Claims on banks

6,584

Claims on corporates

89,745

Regulatory retail exposures

48,168
903

Past due exposures

8,528

Real estate and shares trading
Other exposures

22,904

Total credit risk capital charge

176,832

Total market risk capital charge

2,994

Total operational risk capital charge

10,278

TOTAL

Total Capital adequacy ratio
Tier 1 - Capital adequacy ratio

190,104

14.80
12.71

63

INFORMATION RELATED TO A LICENSED BANK’S RISK MANAGEMENT
The Bank maintains a strong risk management culture and manages the risk / reward relationship within and
across each of the major risk-based lines of business. The Bank continuously reviews its risk management
policies and practices to ensure that it is not subject to large asset valuation and earnings volatility. The Board,
senior management, risk officers, and line managers contribute to effective bank wide risk management. The
Board defines its expectations, and through its oversight determines its accomplishment. The Board also has
ultimate responsibility for risk management as they set the tone and other components of an enterprise wide
risk management framework. Risk officers have the responsibility for monitoring progress and for assisting line
managers in reporting relevant risk information. The line managers are directly responsible for all business
booked in their respective domains. The effective relationship between these parties significantly contributes
to the improvement in the Bank risk management practices as this leads to the timely identification of risk and
facilitation of appropriate response.
The Risk Management Division (RMD) structure has a distinct identity and independence from business units.
The division is comprised of units to address the pertinent risk exposure of the Bank. Its main responsibilities
are to:
1) Evaluate and analyze the Bank wide risk profile by developing risk monitoring techniques;
2) Set up and develop criteria for defining the Bank’s risk threshold in terms of various risk;
3) Develop and establish tools for the measurement of the Bank’s various risk types; and
4) Recommend appropriate strategies/actions for mitigating risk and ensuring a sound risk asset
structure for the Bank.
The following committees have the overall responsibility and authorities vested in them for the day-to-day risk
management activities of the Bank. Authorities vested in the committees are exercised within the objectives
and policies approved by the Board, and subject to the rules and regulations laid down by the CBK.
1) Senior Credit Committee (SCC) approves credit, investment, liquidity and market risks in excess of limits
assigned to individual executives or other committees. The committee likewise reviews bank and country
exposures and makes appropriate recommendations to the Board, where needed.
2) Credit Committee (CC) reviews and approves credit proposals which exceed individual credit authority
limits provided the proposal meets the Bank’s credit criteria requirements.
3) Credit Classification and Evaluation Committee (CCEC) studies and evaluates classified accounts and bank’s
over-all loan portfolio and determines an appropriate provisioning level.
4) Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) meets periodically to review and approve strategies relating to
the management of assets and liabilities including liquidity, interest rate, foreign exchange, cost of funds,
cost allocation, deposit pricing matrix, and strategic trading positions.
5) Risk Management Committee (RMC) reviews effectiveness of the Bank’s overall risk management
processes and procedures, amendments to the credit risk, market risk, operational risk and treasury
polices. It monitors compliance with financial regulatory ratios, corporate legislations and recommends to
the Board, changes in the Bank’s policies and methodologies needed to identify, measure, manage and
monitor the multiple dimensions of risks inherent in the Bank’s business activities.
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The risk management function of the subsidiary is managed by its independent Board of Directors and
Senior Management. The Bank’s nominee directors on the Board of Directors of the subsidiary through
its oversight manage and monitor the risk management activities of the subsidiary.
The following sections below, detail the risks inherent in the activities undertaken by the Bank, their
nature and approach adopted towards management/mitigation of these risks.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation on time
and in full as contracted and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit risk include the major
risks mentioned below:
Direct Lending Risk
The risk that actual customer obligations will not be repaid on time. Direct lending risk occurs in products
offered by the bank, ranging from loans and overdrafts to credit cards both secured and unsecured. It
exists for the entire life of the transactions.
Contingent Lending Risk
The risk that potential contingent obligations will become actual obligations and will not be repaid on
time. Contingent lending risk occurs in products offered by the bank ranging from letters of credit and
guarantees to unused loan commitments. It exists for the entire life of the transaction.
Issuer Risk
The risk that the market value of a security or other debt instrument may change when the perceived
or actual credit standing of the issuer changes thereby exposing the Bank to a financial loss. It is
interrelated to price risk.
Pre-Settlement Risk
The risk that a counter-party with which the Bank trades may default on a contractual obligation before
settlement of the contract.
Settlement Risk
The risk occurs when the counter-party fails to settle the transaction on settlement date.
The Bank’s Credit Policy aims to promote a strong credit risk management architecture that includes
credit policies, procedures and processes. The policy defines the areas and scope of lending activities
undertaken by the Bank and its main goal is not simply to avoid losses, but to ensure achievement of
targeted financial results with a high degree of reliability in an efficient manner. The Bank’s credit risk
management focuses on the dynamic and interactive relationship between three credit extension process:
Portfolio strategy and planning, credit origination and maintenance, and performance assessment and
reporting discussed below.

Portfolio Strategy and Planning
The portfolio strategy and planning phase defines desired financial results (in each Business Unit and
for the Bank) and the credit standards required to achieve them. Business strategies integrate risks and
meet defined hurdles for risk-adjusted return on capital. Facility structure translates this risk-conscious
business strategy into terms and conditions that mitigate risk.
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Portfolio management establishes composition targets, monitors the results of these diverse business strategies
on a continual basis, and allows the Bank to manage concentrations that can result from seemingly unrelated
activities. Specifically, portfolio management involves setting concentration limits by standard dimensions
so that no one category of assets or dimension of risk can materially harm the overall performance of the
Bank.
The Risk Management Committee and Senior Management, on monthly basis reviews portfolio concentrations
in terms of geographical concentrations, individual economic sectors and credit risk rating to ensure that there
are no undue concentrations in one sector or risk rating, and that the limits are within those set out by the
Bank. These reports were also submitted to the Board on quarterly basis.
The Credit Committees (SCC and CC) approve bank-wide portfolio credit concentration limits to corporate or
individual counterparties based on the Bank’s overall risk capacity, capital considerations, and assessment of
the internal and external environments. The Bank’s credit exposure to individuals or group of counterparties
are in accordance with the CBK instructions BS/101/1995 on Maximum Credit Concentration Limits and
subsequent amendments / updates.
The process of periodic review and approval of country and bank limits is centralized at Ahli United Bank
B.S.C. (AUB) Head Office, the parent. Allocation of limits for each is advised to all group entities, including
BKME, upon annual review of such limits. These limits are further segregated in terms of Commercial Banking,
Treasury and Investments.
A summary of bank wide risk exposure incorporating all the above concentration limits plus discussion on
past due, non performing loans (NPLs), collateral concentration, funding profile, capital adequacy, and other
risk management initiatives are reviewed by the Senior Management on monthly basis and reported to the
Board on quarterly basis.

Credit Origination and Maintenance
In the credit origination and maintenance phase, each Business Unit solicits, evaluates, and manages credit
according to the strategies and portfolio parameters established in the portfolio strategy and planning phase.
Transactions are generated within well-defined target market criteria, product structure, and are approved on
risk-adjusted basis through the use of risk rating models.
The Bank uses a Credit Risk Rating (“CRR”) model to assess the credit worthiness of borrowers. The credit
risk measurement methodology is geared towards measuring credit risk for corporate and private banking
portfolio in a scale of 1 to 10 which meets the requirements of Bank for International Settlements (BIS). Risk
ratings 1 to 6 for performing assets; and risk rating 7 to watch list accounts while ratings from 8 to 10 for
classified accounts.
Credit maintenance involves processes to control documentation and disbursement, monitor timely repayment,
value collateral and review the status of exposures. Within this phase, origination and underwriting for
distribution to investors take place. A Post Fact Approval Unit independently reviews credit approvals to
ensure that the approvals are consistent with policy and that all covenants of the approvals are met prior to
disbursement of loan proceeds and throughout the tenure of the credit facilities.
Credit maintenance also includes early problem identification and remedial management of troubled
exposures. The Special Asset Management Unit established within Risk Management Division provides a
more focused attention to irregular and delinquent accounts. The primary objective of the unit is to develop
effective strategies in order to either rehabilitate or restructure impaired credits.
In view of the current financial crisis, the Bank has constantly been reviewing the entire credit portfolio and
conducting stress tests in order to provide senior management with clear indication of the composition,
maximum exposure at risk, overall credit quality as well as identify potential signs of weaknesses. As a result,
the Bank is able to take timely and appropriate courses of action.
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For secured credit exposure, the collateral valuation is updated in robust manner. Quoted securities are
independently valued on a daily basis while the most recent independent valuation for other securities,
including real estate, is obtained. Whenever a gap in minimum-security coverage is identified, the concerned
counter party is asked to provide collateral top-up and/or reduce the outstanding exposure to comply with the
minimum-security requirement. For unsecured exposure, selected counter parties are requested to provide
acceptable collateral. While structuring credit facilities, the Bank ensures that credit exposure will be repaid
from clearly identifiable and unencumbered sources of repayment.
Performance Assessment and Reporting
The performance assessment and reporting phase allows both the Senior Management and Business Units
to monitor results and improve performance continually. Both portfolio and process trends are monitored in
order to make appropriate and timely adjustments to business strategies, portfolio parameters, credit policies
and credit origination and maintenance practices. This phase of the credit process draws on information
within the Bank and external benchmarks to help evaluate performance.
Credit performance is assessed through analysis of:
1) Portfolio concentrations by obligor, industry, risk rating, tenor, product, collateral and other dimensions
2) Credit quality indicators
3) Exceptions to risk acceptance criteria
4) Other policy exceptions
The Bank has adopted an internal account profitability model (APM) to determine the profitability of corporate
and private banking accounts. The methodology is based on the risk-adjusted return on capital (RAROC).
In addition, periodic review of both portfolio and process are performed by the Business Units as well as by
Risk Management and Audit Division.
In accordance with the instructions of the CBK dated 18 December 1996, setting out the rules and regulations
regarding the classification of credit facilities, the Bank has a Credit Classification and Evaluation Committee
which is composed of senior management. The committee studies and evaluates existing credit facilities
of each customer of the Bank, and identifies any abnormal situations and difficulties associated with a
customer’s position which might cause the debt to be classified as irregular and to determine an appropriate
provisioning level.
Market Risk
The Bank defines ‘Market risk’ as the uncertainty in future earnings, of the Bank’s on and off Balance Sheet
positions, resulting from changes in market conditions, i.e. changes in prices of assets and interest rates.
Market risk pertains to the interest, equity, foreign exchange and commodity risks in the Bank’s trading and
banking books.
Market Risk Management addresses the following areas:
• Quantitative parameters that define the acceptable level of market risk;
• Authorised instruments and hedging policies for managing risk exposures; and
• Exposure limits
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The Market Risk Management policy covers the following broad areas:
Interest rate risk management in the trading book and banking book
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the value of the underlying
financial instruments. Interest rate risk in the trading book arises from the sensitivity of interest bearing
instruments to interest rate volatility.
The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and
liabilities and off balance sheet instruments that mature or re-price in a given period. The Bank manages
this risk by matching or hedging the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities through risk management
strategies.
The Bank assesses its interest rate risk in the balance sheet through gapping analysis based on the interest repricing mismatches of interest sensitive assets and liabilities. This report is complemented by an EaR (Earningsat-Risk) analysis, which measures the net interest income volatility given a 1% parallel instantaneous change
in interest rate over a one-year horizon. The main strength of the applied EaR approach is its simplicity in
providing senior management a general picture of interest rate risk on the Bank’s balance sheet. Moreover,
the Bank assesses the impact of a basis point change in interest rate on its assets, liabilities and off-balance
sheet items across different interest rate pillars. This provides the summary of inherent interest rate risk in
the Bank’s portfolio on a longer time horizon.
The majority of the Bank’s assets and liabilities re-price within one year. Accordingly there is a limited exposure
to interest rate risk in the Banking Book.
Foreign exchange risk management in the trading and banking book
Foreign exchange risk in the trading book may arise when the rights to receive future assets are not equivalent
to liabilities or obligations in a given currency. Examples of rights include currencies purchased in a forward
exchange market and positions taken in currency futures. Obligations may include currency options.
Foreign exchange risk in the banking book arises from a currency mismatch between the Bank’s assets and
liabilities. The Bank views itself as a Kuwaiti entity with Kuwaiti Dinars as its functional currency. Hedging
transactions are used to manage any significant risk in other currencies. Non-monetary assets carried at fair
values that are not denominated in Bank’s functional currency, are hedged using non-derivative financial
liabilities for foreign currency risk.
Risk Management Division monitors the various foreign exchange limits (overnight, forward gap, stop loss,
etc.) on daily basis and the report summarizing all these are presented to ALCO on regular basis.
Equity risk management in the trading book and banking book
Equity price risk arises from the changes in fair values of equity investments. Values of individual securities
can fluctuate in response to a variety of factors, other than movements in the interest or exchange rates.
For example market valuations of equity securities may respond to factors such as operating results of the
company, rights issues, key corporate decisions, changes in credit ratings of the securities and other market
changes.
The Bank manages the equity risk in its trading book by setting up position limits and closely monitoring
breaches. Equity risks in the banking book are mitigated through diversification of investments in terms of
geographical distribution and industry concentration. The majority of the Bank’s quoted equity investments in
the banking book are traded on the Kuwait stock exchange.
Liquidity risk
The Bank defines liquidity risk as its ability to meet all present and future financial obligations in a timely
manner and without undue effort and cost.
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The following key factors are taken into consideration while assessing and managing the liquidity risk of the
bank:
- The bank keeps a well diversified base for funding sources comprising a portfolio of retail customers, large
corporate and institutions, small and medium enterprises, high net worth individuals without significant
correlation or concentrations thereby diversifying the funding base and mitigating concentration risks.
- The past behavioural pattern analysis of our main liabilities, management expects large portion of our
customers deposits to be rolled over at contractual maturity.
- As per Central Bank of Kuwait rules and regulation the bank keeps at least 18% of its deposits with CBK in
the form of treasury bills and other depository forms.
- Commitments for loans and advances are approved after taking into account the bank’s overall liquidity
position
- Criteria for the allocation of transactions into the trading book have been set by Treasury Division. Treasury
Operations reviews the compliance to the established criteria for allocation of financial instruments to the
trading book. Internal Audit conducts an independent review to ensure compliance on an annual basis. Any
exceptions are brought to the attention of the ALCO.
In application of the general guidelines highlighted above the bank maintains, reviews and reports the
following:
A periodic Liquid Asset Ratio (LAR) report is prepared to measure the level of liquid assets available to
fund short-term contractual liability obligations including unused standby commitments. Under normal
circumstances, the LAR report assumes various changes in deposits in line with the historical movements.
Assumptions are modified depending on the change on the characteristics of deposit liabilities. The LAR is
further stress tested and results are reviewed by senior management and appropriate actions are taken when
needed.
A weekly liquidity gapping report is likewise prepared following the CBK guidelines which shows periodic and
cumulative net outflows between asset and liability run-off profiled in terms of their contractual maturities.
A daily liquidity report is submitted to senior management. This report summarizes the 8-week liquidity
forecast taking into account the behavioural adjustments, duly approved by ALCO, and presents different
scenarios for efficient management of liquidity risk.
A daily monitoring of the Bank’s exposure to bank counterparties against approved limits and tenor is
presented to senior management. The Bank, in coordination with the AUB Group, periodically reviews the
latest available quantitative and qualitative information on the counterparties and based on the findings,
limits and tenor are adjusted accordingly.
A weekly independent valuation report of the Bank’s investment portfolio is submitted to senior management.
This report presents the constitution of the portfolio and compares the latest independent valuation with that
of the previous week, both at the individual investment asset and portfolio level.
In order to supplement the existing liquidity risk monitoring reports, a set of liquidity ratios, collectively
known as “Management Action Triggers” (MAT), are monitored on a regular basis to manage the day-to-day
liquidity funding profile of the Bank. A guiding range for each ratio has been set by ALCO and appropriate
actions are taken, whenever the ratios are breached.
The Bank has also taken advantage of the CBK USD/KD swap facility to convert excess USD holdings into the
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local currency for placements with local bank counter parties, where we have up to date knowledge of the
market condition and credit worthiness of such counter parties.
A liquidity contingency plan to address systemic and localised liquidity emergencies is reviewed periodically
to ensure that it is kept up to date and in line with the business continuity plan.
Operational Risk
The Bank defines operational risk as the risk of direct and indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people or systems or from external events. This definition clearly includes disaster recovery
planning as a function of operational risk management. It is for this reason that the Bank finds it prudent
to include the same consideration, namely, unexpected significant and unusual one-time events, such as
disaster events in its framework for operational risk management.
The operational risk management framework provides the Bank with the foundation for a comprehensive and
an effective operational risk management program with the following major objectives:
1) Provide a clear understanding throughout the Bank of what constitutes an operational risk event;
2) Promote communication among senior management and risk taking units on various elements that
impact operational risk, thereby clarifying accountability; and
3) Systematically track relevant operational risks by business lines across the Bank and build up an
operational loss data base.
The framework likewise outlines the quantitative approach the Bank adopts in measuring operational risk
unique to the Bank’s own risk profile as well as the allocation of economic capital. As an application of the
quantitative approach, operational risk self assessment (ORSA) exercises are conducted on regular basis.
The primary objective of the exercises is two-pronged: first, to promote greater understanding of inherent
operational risks associated with business undertaken; and second, strengthen the discipline of consciously
monitoring operational risks on an ongoing basis. The Bank’s ORSA approach is in line with the BIS requirements
and recommendations.
The Bank defines “contingency planning”, Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP) and Business Continuity Plan (BCP) as
the process of identifying critical information systems and business functions and developing plans to enable
those systems and functions to be resumed in the event of a disruption. This process includes regular testing
to ensure that contingency plans are effective. During the testing process, management verifies that the
business unit plans complement the information systems plans that are in effect for mainframe functions.
The Bank’s DRP, in its entirety, constitute four critical factors, namely (a) Technical DRP, (b) Business Continuity
Plans, (c) logistical requirements in the event of a disaster, and (d) procedures to be followed to activate
during the implementation of the DRP. Integral to the DRP is the assignment of key individuals who will be
tasked to trigger and oversee the DRP until the Bank regains normal operations.
The Technical DRP is the foundation on which the remaining three factors have been built up e.g. the business
continuity plan or recovery process is developed, reviewed and updated based on the progress in the technical
disaster recovery front. In case of disaster at Head Office, all the data is replicated at DR site on real-time
basis.
The Bank has been conducting periodic DRP tests, including “data integrity” and branch “off-host” systems
and procedures. The “off host” tests are conducted for all branches on regular basis. All “off host” transactions
posted by the branches are accepted as soon as the system is shifted back to “on-host” mode. The data
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integrity test is also conducted at the Disaster Recovery Site at regular intervals. The results of both “off-host”
and data “integrity” tests have been found to be satisfactory.
BCP procedures are updated regularly in line with any technical changes implemented by IT. The exercise also
requires the end-users to accomplish a “business impact analysis” to assess and support business continuity
in the end-users’ respective areas.
The above operational risk initiatives comply in all material respects with the CBK instructions dated 14
November 1996 regarding general guidelines for internal control systems and directives issued on 13 October
2003 regarding “Sound Practices for the Management and Control of Operational Risks”.
Moreover, the Bank conducted fire drills intended to meet any contingency. The results of these tests were
very satisfactory.
Data Security Management
Although data security is somewhat related to disaster recovery planning, it is often a more immediate threat.
Lapses in data security could result in breaches of privacy, theft or corruption of information, contamination of
programs, and theft of resources or assets. An unsecured network may allow access to some very sensitive
information (e.g., personnel, loan, or payroll records), corporate financial records, or similar information that
might be of value to competitors, the media, or thieves. The elements discussed below are included in the
Bank’s security policy and standards.
The Bank has a security policy that informs the employees, customers, partners, and others that the Bank
takes the security of data seriously. In addition, in the event of legal action, it notifies the court that the Bank
has made a reasonable effort to secure its data. It also provides guidance to those who implement security
so that they use an equitable and standard approach.
The Bank’s main statement of policy is to implement a secure information system by identifying the
responsibilities at every level of information handling, i.e. from data ownership (encoding) to data access.
Periodic audits are conducted to ensure compliance with the policies and standards set by the Bank.
The comprehensive security policy covers not only the technical aspects of security, but also issues dealing
with how Bank employees should treat sensitive information which includes the following:
1) Data privacy
2) Availability of resources
3) Data integrity
Internet or network security deals with many technical issues, including firewalls, network configuration, and
encryption of data. The security policy identifies the minimal configurations and the expected uses of encrypted data.
In order to ensure the integrity of critical systems the Bank maintains change management procedures in
addition to audit logs.
The Bank maintains and conducts strict periodic vulnerability, configuration and penetration testing
assessments both from internally and externally on critical infrastructure components to ensure that the
Bank maintains a high security posture.
The Bank analyzes network traffic on a daily basis that reaches important critical servers and proactively
blocks any suspicious activity to ensure that any unseen security risks are controlled.
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Maintaining host and network security also depends largely on the definition and maintenance of password.
The policy identifies how passwords are maintained and provides guidelines for the importance of password
confidentiality and how to maintain it.
The Bank is in the process of getting ISO27001 certificate and most controls are now in place according to
ISO27001 standard.
Legal and Compliance
Legal risks represent the possibility of incurring a monetary loss as a result of inability to enforce contracts/
agreements signed by the Bank due to faulty documentation / improper drafting. As a general rule, the Bank
ensures that the counterparties and customers have legal and necessary authorities to engage in contracts
and transactions with the Bank and that obligations arising from these transactions are enforceable.
Legal Division ensures that the Bank is compliant with all legislation applicable to the Bank’s business
activities. Meanwhile, the Compliance Officer ensures that the Bank is compliant with all the requirements of
the CBK. Part of the Compliance Officer’s main responsibilities is to comply with the CBK’s instruction regarding
combating money laundering and terrorist financing. Policy and procedures manual related to anti-money
laundering are implemented.
The Bank, whenever required, follows international standards and adopts best market practices when it
comes to risk management activities. RMD stays aware of developments both within the organization as
well as in the marketplace to ensure that the Bank may quickly adapt its risk management policies for any
significant changes. The risk control programs are periodically benchmarked against regulatory standards and
industry best practices.
Whilst the Bank adheres to the regulatory standards and best market practices, it also recognizes the fact that
the myriad of risks, affecting different parts of the Bank’s risk-taking activities is continuously evolving. The
biggest challenge, therefore, is keeping the information updated and relevant to facilitate better understanding
of risk and effective response. To this end, RMD periodically performs a re-evaluation of significant risk
management policies and procedures and develops action plans to correct any weaknesses. This also ensures
that the Bank moves further along the continuum in terms of sophistication and analytical tools with respect
to each of the risk dimensions.

Information Related to a Licensed Bank’s Credit Exposures
Credit facilities with overdue amounts of over 90 days are identified as past due and in line with regulatory
guidelines; facilities with overdue amounts are classified as either sub-standard, doubtful or bad depending
on the number of days which the amounts are overdue. Other credit exposures are considered as impaired if
its carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. An assessment is made at each balance
sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific credit exposure, or a group of
similar exposures, are impaired.
Credit facilities identified and classified as past due are subject to specific provision for impairment, the amount
of provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, being the present
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value of expected future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantee and collateral, discounted
based on contractual interest rate.
The provision for impairment of credit facilities covers losses where there is objective evidence that losses
may be present in components of the credit facilities portfolio at the balance sheet date. These have been
estimated based on historical patterns of losses in each component, the credit ratings allotted to the
borrowers and reflecting the current economic climate in which the borrowers operate. Besides, as per the
CBK’s requirements, a minimum general provision of 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non cash facilities is
made on all credit facilities not subject to specific provision.
Where available, the Group uses External Credit Assessment Institutions (ECAI) ratings for categorizing
riskiness of credit assets.
ECAI’s have been used for the following standard portfolios
Standard portfolio

ECAI

Claims on banks

Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s

Table 3 – Gross Credit Risk exposures before CRM
KD 000
Funded

Non funded

Total Gross Credit Exposures
before CRM

9,803

-

9,803

307,901

773

308,674

96

-

96

Claims on banks

218,228

28,400

246,628

Claims on corporates

932,758

233,036

1,165,794

Regulatory retail exposures

411,073

2,067

413,140

17,934

-

17,934

Real estate and shares trading

148,566

27,868

176,434

Other exposures

190,867

-

190,867

2,237,226

292,144

2,529,370

Standard portfolio
Cash items
Claims on sovereigns
Claims on multilateral development banks (MDBs)

Past due exposures

TOTAL

73

KD 000
Year end balances
Standard portfolio

Monthly average balances

Funded

Unfunded

Total

Funded

Unfunded

Total

9,803

-

9,803

8,430

-

8,430

307,901

773

308,674

314,055

186

314,241

-

-

-

113

942

1,055

96

-

96

94

-

94

Claims on banks

218,228

28,400

246,628

418,401

29,259

447,660

Claims on corporates

932,758

233,036

1,165,794

943,306

190,102

1,133,408

Regulatory retail exposures

411,073

2,067

413,140

394,669

2,239

396,908

17,934

-

17,934

13,425

-

13,425

Real estate and shares trading

148,566

27,868

176,434

156,626

23,558

180,184

Other exposures

190,867

-

190,867

162,311

-

162,311

2,237,226

292,144

2,529,370

2,411,430

246,286

2,657,716

Cash items
Claims on sovereigns
Claims on public sector
entities (PSEs)
Claims on multilateral
development banks (MDBs)

Past due exposures

TOTAL
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Table 4 – Geographic distribution of exposures
KD 000
Other
Middle East

U.S.A. & Rest of the
Canada
World

Standard portfolio

Kuwait

Cash items

9,792

11

-

-

-

9,803

308,674

-

-

-

-

308,674

-

96

-

-

-

96

64,240

133,162

11,692

30,006

7,528

246,628

1,127,436

19,348

12,473

107

6,430

1,165,794

413,140

-

-

-

-

413,140

17,934

-

-

-

-

17,934

Real estate and shares trading

176,434

-

-

-

-

176,434

Other exposures

150,731

16,611

3,542

605

19,378

190,867

2,268,381

169,228

27,707

30,718

33,336

2,529,370

Claims on sovereigns
Claims on multilateral
development banks (MDBs)
Claims on banks
Claims on corporates
Regulatory retail exposures
Past due exposures

TOTAL

Europe

Total

Table 5 - Distribution of gross exposures by industry
KD 000
Industry

Funded

Unfunded

Total

Trading and manufacturing

344,598

43,836

388,434

Banks and financial institutions

709,648

34,189

743,837

Construction and real estate

354,578

201,920

556,498

Others
TOTAL BANKING BOOK ASSETS

828,402

12,199

840,601

2,237,226

292,144

2,529,370
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Table 6 - Distribution of gross exposures by residual contractual maturity
KD 000
Standard portfolio

Up to 1

1 to 3

3 to 12

Over 1

month

months

months

Year

Total

9,803

-

-

-

9,803

32,283

79,377

159,854

37,160

308,674

Cash items
Claims on sovereigns

-

-

-

96

96

Claims on banks

215,999

973

5,792

23,864

246,628

Claims on corporates

269,890

322,475

277,812

295,617

1,165,794

Claims on multilateral development banks (MDBs)

6,594

3,640

9,671

393,235

413,140

Past due exposures

17,934

-

-

-

17,934

Real estate and shares trading

28,976

60,187

76,861

10,410

176,434

Regulatory retail exposures

Other exposures
TOTAL

66,615

980

5,052

118,220

190,867

648,094

467,632

535,042

878,602

2,529,370

Table 7 - Impaired loans and provision	
KD 000
Impaired
loans

Past due
loans

Specific
provision

Charge for
the period

Write
off

General
provisions

2,514

3,883

1,273

(274)

-

7,045

29

8,135

29

-

-

1,218

Construction and real estate

12,828

16,894

826

(422)

-

6,944

Others

44,494

56,926

26,666

7,572

181

15,422

59,865

85,838

28,794

6,876

181

30,629

Industry
Trading and manufacturing
Banks and financial
institutions

TOTAL

As at 31 December 2008, the Group carries a total provision of KD 59,423 thousand including the above
mentioned specific provision and general provision of minimum 1% on all claims on corporate and regulatory
retail exposure (net of certain categories of collateral), that are not provided for specifically in line with CBK
instructions. The above balances of impaired loans and past due loans include interest suspended amounting
to KD 13,137 thousand.
The amount of impaired loans and past due loans outside Kuwait is not material.

PILLAR 3 – DISCLOSURES (continued)
31 December 2008

Table 8 - Exposure post risk mitigation and credit conversion
KD 000
Standard Portfolio
Claims on banks

Rated
54,581

Unrated
284

Total
54,865

-

758,629

758,629

Regulatory retail exposures

-

404,976

404,976

Past due exposures

-

7,526

7,526

Claims on corporates

Real estate and shares trading

-

72,587

72,587

Other exposures

-

190,867

190,867

54,581

1,434,869

1,489,450

TOTAL

Information Related to Credit Risk Mitigation
Collateral is obtained from clients pursuant to the Bank’s appraisal of the financial position, solvency,
reputation and past experience of the client and the Bank’s estimation of the degree of financing risks.
Adequate collateral coverage ratios are maintained by the Bank in line with CBK guidelines and bank policies.
In the event of a decline in value of collateral, additional coverage is sought by the Bank. A significant portion
of the Bank’s lending portfolio is adequately covered either by tangible collateral or assignment of revenues
and third party receivables.
In order to mitigate the credit risk the Bank is exposed to, it accepts collateral in the form of cash (e.g.,
fixed deposits, deposit certificates and/or other savings instruments); shares / portfolio of shares traded on
recognized exchanges; debt securities issued by sovereign entities having acceptable credit quality grade,
multilateral development banks and commercial banks with acceptable credit quality grade; guarantees and
stand-by letters of credit issued by banks with acceptable credit quality grade and having available guarantor
line.
In addition to the above, the Bank accepts lien on sponsored funds, mortgages on real estate properties and
chattel, legal assignment of contracting works or supply contracts as well as legal assignment of rentals or
leases.
With respect to counter-party guarantors, the Bank accepts only those that are considered investment grade
risks.
Where applicable, on and off-balance sheet netting are used to the extent allowed as per the provisions of
the contracted documentation, legal right to set-off and there being no maturity mismatches.
The Bank has a system of periodic collateral valuation, monitoring, and follow-up for inadequate coverage.
This ensures that the Bank has an effective collateral management process, wherein:
1) the collateral are appraised periodically, following the CBK guidelines as the minimum time interval,
e.g. real estate properties are appraised every year while shares / portfolio of shares traded on
recognized stock exchanges are monitored every day / month respectively;
2) the minimum Loan to Value (LTV) of 50% is required upon granting share/real estate financing bearing
in mind, that LTV for individual obligor maybe lower than that set parameters depending on the credit
circumstances, structure of facility, and creditworthiness of the obligor;
3) the Bank execute documentation with borrowers empowering the bank, the right to liquidate or take
legal possession of the collateral in a timely manner in the event of obligor default, unless instructed
otherwise by the regulatory authorities; and
4) the obligor and the value of the collateral do not have a material positive correlation.
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Credit exposure is reviewed monthly by the RMC to ensure that there is no undue concentration. In the event
that there is heavy concentration towards specific economic sector or counter-party, the Bank sells down the
related assets and / or requires the client to put up sufficient liquid security.
Table 9 - Eligible financial collateral and guarantees
KD 000
Gross
exposure

Eligible
CRM

Claims on banks
Claims on corporates
Regulatory retail exposures
Past due exposures
Real estate and shares trading

246,628
1,165,794
413,140
17,934
176,434

21,041
407,165
6,813
7,528
128,042

TOTAL

2,019,930

570,589

Standard portfolio

Information Related to Market Risk for Trading Portfolio, Foreign Exchange
and Commodities Exposure
The Group currently follows the standardized approach in determining capital requirement for market risk on
the trading book. The Group’s proprietary positions in financial instruments, include positions in derivative
products and off-balance instruments, held for short-term resale and/or which are taken on by the Group with
the intention of benefiting in the short-term from actual and/or expected differences between their buying
and selling prices, or from interest rate variations, and positions taken in order to hedge other elements of
the trading book.
For measuring the market risk in the trading book, all positions are marked to market daily, including
recognition of accrued interest, dividends or other benefits as appropriate. Foreign exchange positions are
marked to market using a close-out valuation based on a mid-market price for spot positions and forward
swap points for the forward positions. Financial instruments that impact interest rate risk positions, including
derivatives, are valued based on industry accepted valuation models. Equities and commodities, are marked
to market, using bid prices.

Table 10 - Capital requirement for components of Market Risk
KD 000
Standard Portfolio

Capital charge

Interest rate risk
Equity position risk
Foreign exchange risk

66
997
1,931

Total

2,994
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Information Related to Operational Risk
Operational risk is defined by Group as the risk of direct and indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people or systems or from external events.
The operational risk capital charge is calculated using standardized approach. Under this approach the Group
allocated the gross revenue to various business lines such as
1)
2)
3)
4)

Commercial Banking
Retail Banking
Trading and sales
Assets management

Gross income includes income directly attributable to the business line. Gross income attributable to individual
business lines are further broken down into net interest income, net non interest income and profit or loss
on securities trading. Beta factors are applied to the average of previous three year Gross income to calculate
the operational risk capital charge.
The Basel II accord requires banks to hold capital against operational risk. The accord offers a continuum of
approaches from the simplest basic indicator approach to the more advanced measurement approaches. The
Group realizes that the current spectrum of possible quantitative approaches to operational risk is broad.
In its endeavor to adopting a risk sensitive approach to assess the operational loss, the Group views operational risk management as a progression involving three layers of activity. These could be summarized as
follows:
Level 1 - Risk Self Assessment deals with words more than numbers, it involves:
• Qualitative review of inherent risks
• Review of controls and procedures
• Specification of corrective actions if necessary and follow-up on implementation of such actions
The self-assessment process involves both line management (business risk officer) and external facilitator
(ORSA facilitators are officers from both Risk Management and Internal Audit Divisions) to encourage frank
and open discussions of issues and remedial actions. This activity is seen to generate significant amounts of
descriptive and subjective rating information.
Level 2 - Key Risk Indicators (KRI) is the process of collecting and reporting on an eclectic set of quantitative
measures that correlate with the likelihood of potential failures in a process. These indicators are not readily
combined into a single aggregate, rather, they are useful on a comparative basis across similar processes and
over time. They allow effective benchmarking of processes. When tracked overtime, they can give valuable
early warning of possible problems and can facilitate timely corrective action.
Level 3 - Loss Data Collection. The Bank’s collection of historical operational risk losses as well as “near
misses” is an ongoing exercise. Internal loss data are not the only, or necessarily the most important,
indicators of operational risk. But such losses do represent the ultimate negative consequences of process
failures. Combined with external loss data (where available), they are central to scaling the magnitude of an
aggregate risk capital allocation.
The Bank is resolute in reducing and controlling operational risk, and to this end, has adopted a disciplined
approach to all layers of operational risk identified above. This qualitative to quantitative approach to operational risk is in line with the recommendations of the BIS.

79

The operational risk capital charge of the Group is computed based on CBK guidelines for calculating capital
charge for operational risk under the Standardised Approach.
Table 11 – Capital charge for operational risk
KD 000
Business line

Capital charge

Trading and Sales
Commercial Banking
Retail Banking
Asset Management
Total

1,509
3,546
3,310
1,913
10,278

Information Related to Equity Position
Investments in the banking book are classified at the time of acquisition into those acquired for capital gains
and strategic investments. Investments acquired with a view of generating income and profits from capital
appreciation are reviewed periodically and disposed off at opportune instances. The Bank reviews its strategic
investment portfolio based on the industry, market and economic developments and then either liquidates or
further consolidates holdings in these investments.
In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard, equity positions in the banking book are
classified as available for sale securities. These investments are fair valued periodically and revaluation gains /
losses are accounted as cumulative changes in fair value in equity. For equity investments quoted in organized
financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to quoted bid prices. Fair values of unquoted equity
investments are determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment, on the expected
discounted cash flows, or other appropriate valuation models. Equity investments whose fair value cannot be
estimated accurately are carried at cost less impairment if any.
Table 12 – Equity position in banking book
KD 000
Investment type

Carrying value

Capital requirement

Publicly traded

37,724

3,738

Privately held

84,644

9,162

122,368

12,900

TOTAL

Publicly traded investments represent quoted equities traded on local and international stock exchanges.
Privately held investments represent investments in unquoted entities and venture funds. The total value of
investments in the banking book in the balance sheet is KD 122,562 thousand. Cumulative realized gain from
sale of available for sale securities is KD 36,112 thousand. The total unrealized gain recognized in the equity
is KD 23,293 thousand of which KD 10,432 is included in Tier 2 Capital.
Information Related to the Licensed Bank’s Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB)
The Bank periodically monitors the interest rate mismatch in assets and liabilities through gap analysis based
on the interest re-pricing mismatches of interest sensitive assets and liabilities. The Bank uses Earnings-
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at-Risk (EaR) model to assess the volatility of the Bank’s Net Interest Income (NII). The EaR provides an
approximation of the likely NII impact of a given change in interest rate. The following assumptions are
considered in calculation of the EaR:
1.
2.
3.

Change in interest rate of 1%;
The rate change is instantaneous for all time buckets; and
Assets and liabilities are spread evenly within the time bucket.

The EaR approach provides the Bank the volatility in its NII and the interest rate risk in the Bank’s banking
book.
The Bank’s EaR position is periodically reviewed by Assets and Liability Committee (ALCO) to enable the
management to assess the sensitivity of the Bank to changes in market conditions and other risk factors that
could impact NII. The ALCO has the authority and responsibility to develop strategies and implement tactical
plans to ensure that NII volatility remain within acceptable bounds.
Table 13 – Impact of 1% shock on interest rate risk in banking book
KD 000
1-7 Days

Upto 1M

Upto 3M

Upto 6M

Upto 9M

Upto 1Y

Consolidated
Cumulative Impact

10,684

6,690

3,767

2,570

2,650

2,570

KWD
Cumulative Impact

10,219

6,643

4,135

3,259

3,337

3,291

FC
Cumulative Impact

465

47

(368)

(689)

(687)

(721)

